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Distribution for year
12% higher than
previous year (distribution
for 6 months 14% higher
than comparative
6 month period)

Acquisition of
outstanding MICC
linked units and
subsequent delisting

Highlights of the year

Salient features of the results

Overall portfolio vacancy
reduced to 2.9% of
gross rental income from
4.4% a year ago

R200 million issue of
linked units for cash
successfully concluded

Improved quality of
the portfolio further
by acquisitions and
approved developments
totalling approximately
R300 million and
disposal of non-core
properties in excess
of R400 million

Audited year ended 31 March

2007 2006
Cents per Cents per

R000 linked unit R000 linked unit

Net profit for the year
before debenture interest 240 897 223 437
Net profit attributable to
linked unitholders 320 639 115.79 317 631 118.25
Headline earnings
attributable to linked
unitholders 230 378 83.19 199 143 74.14
Net Asset Value (NAV) 2 372 109 803 1 823 974 670

  Distribution to Vukile linked %
  unitholders (cents per linked unit) 2007 2006  Change

First 35.75 32.5 10.0
Second 41.00 36.0 14.0
Total 76.75 68.5 12.0
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Vukile is a property fund which was listed on the JSE Limited on 24 June 2004
(JSE code: VKE).  Its listing was promoted by Sanlam, which contributed a significant
share of Vukile’s start-up portfolio and at present still holds a 32% interest in the company.
Vukile’s market capitalisation was approximately R3.2 billion at 31 March 2007 and it had a
property portfolio which was valued at R3.86 billion.  It has completed the acquisition of
100% of the issued share capital of MICC Property Income Fund Limited.  There are
295 550 877 Vukile units in issue.
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Vukile’s primary objective is to invest in properties with strong
contractual cash flows for long-term sustainability, capital appreciation
and growing income distributions for linked unitholders.
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Chairman’s and
chief executive’s statement02

The highlights of a productive year include:
a robust financial and property performance which
enabled us to increase the distribution for the year
ended 31 March 2007 by 12% compared to the
previous year;
in a tight investment market, the further enhancement
of the size and quality of the portfolio through selective
acquisitions of prime properties in Hyde Park,
Houghton, Pinetown and Moratiwa Crossing and
the disposal, at premium prices, of properties worth
approximately R400 million which did not meet our
longer term investment criteria;
the successful completion of an extensive
R73 million expansion and upgrade programme at
the Phoenix Plaza and Dobsonville shopping centres;
the High Court ruling which enabled us to acquire
the remaining linked units in MICC and that
company’s subsequent delisting;
the reduction of the vacancy level of the portfolio
from 4.4% a year ago to 2.9%;
the successful implementation of a R200 million
issue of shares for cash; and
the successful turnaround of the Randburg Square
where we reduced the vacancy level of the office
tower from 71% a year ago to about 10% at the
year end.

During this period, the South African property sector
remained buoyant on the back of an economy which
continued to grow.

The commercial property market, as measured by the
IPD, achieved total returns of 26.7% in 2006 which,

Anton Botha (chairman) and
Gerhard van Zyl (chief executive)

The year under review was another
very satisfactory one for the
company, which, at the strategic as
well as the operational level, made
significant progress in building a
sustainably profitable business.
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while below the exceptionally high rate of 30.1% achieved
in 2005, was among the best in the world.  Property
loan stocks outstripped the direct property index at
33.8%.

The healthy state of the economy augurs well for the
sustained strong performance of commercial property,
notably in the office sector, which is experiencing
historically low vacancy levels.

With further economic growth underpinning take-up
rates, vacancy levels are expected to reduce further in
2007, which could in turn result in double-digit rental
increases.  The strength of the underlying fundamentals
in the commercial property market also means that
capitalisation rates should continue to strengthen below
the 10% mark.

The viability of new projects is, however, being impacted
by the rise in building costs, while in the industrial sector,
the lack of suitable land is also limiting the potential for
new developments. (It is estimated that A-grade building
costs now require net rentals on new office buildings
to exceed R100/m2, well above the current level.)  In
addition, there seems to be continued impetus in the
retail market and, although we do not expect to see the
very high growth rates of the immediate past continuing,
there is still a lot of momentum in this sector.  Significant
infrastructural expenditure on such developments as
the World Cup, the Gautrain and the Coega IDZ will
place further pressure on building costs in the year
ahead.

A significant feature of the past year has been the
consolidation in the listed property sector, and some
analysts believe that the number of property loan stock
and property unit trust companies listed on the JSE
could be reduced from 35 to around 20 by mergers
and acquisitions over the next few years.  This could
be a positive development for the industry and its
investors: fewer but larger entities will improve liquidity
and increase the market capitalisations of stocks in this
sector.  A reduction in the number of property companies
will also see a commensurate increase in the number
of premium, high-yield assets in their respective portfolios.

Vukile is well placed to take full advantage of this
favourable operating environment.  Since its listing in
2004, the company has systematically put in place all

the building blocks on which future growth can be
soundly based: a portfolio capable of generating good
yields into the long term; a broad investor base;
impeccable BEE credentials; and a prudent debt
structure.

In the year ahead, Vukile will continue to pursue its
proven growth strategy, seeking new investment
opportunities at acceptable yields while at the same
time revamping or enlarging existing properties where
appropriate.  A further priority will be to investigate and
implement cost saving measures in the portfolio.

All things considered, the board is therefore of the
opinion that Vukile should again produce good results,
in line with its overall objective of generating real growth
in income distribution for its linked unitholders, in the
year to March 2008.

The robust results of the past year are a tribute to the
hard work and dedication of our small management
team and our external service providers.  Vukile focuses
on the strategic management of the company and its
portfolio, outsourcing many of the operational functions
to business partners: Sanlam Properties, who provide
property asset management services, and Gensec
Property Services, JHI Real Estate, Kuper Legh Property
Management, Marriott Properties and CPS Property
Management, who look after the day-to-day management
of the various properties.  We thank these companies
as well as our other business partners, notably the
broking and development community, for the invaluable
contribution they make to Vukile’s success.

A special word of appreciation is due to the two groups
of people Vukile exists to serve, our investors and our
tenants, whom we thank most sincerely for their
continued support.  Finally, we would like to express
our gratitude to our colleagues on the board, who again
applied their vast experience and expertise to the effective
governance and strategic guidance of the company.

Anton Botha Gerhard van Zyl
Chairman Chief executive
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Directors’
review of operations04

The group net cash flow reflecting the composition of cash
generated and utilised during the year under review is set out
in the graph below:

Financial results
Profits available for distribution have increased from
R185.8 million a year ago to R214.8 million, an increase of
15.6%.  The market value of Vukile linked units has increased
from R5.00 on 24 June 2004 (date of listing) to R10.77 on
30 March 2007.  The total income and capital return to
unitholders since listing equates to 56.7% per annum.

The net asset value of the group has increased over the
reporting period by 19.9%, from 670 cents per unit to
803 cents per unit on 31 March 2007.

The change in net asset value per linked unit, based on
295 550 877 linked units in issue at year end, is set out in
the NAV bridge graph below:

Group
Net property revenue, excluding straight-line rental income
accrual, decreased from R366.5 million to R357.7 million,
primarily as a result of property disposals in excess of
R400 million during the year.  If acquisitions and disposals are
excluded, on a “like for like” basis, group net property revenue
increased by 8.1% from 2006 to 2007.

The reduction in group corporate administration expenditure
from R21.6 million to R12.0 million was primarily due to a lower
long-term incentive bonus charge to the income statement,
R1 million for the year ended 31 March 2007 as compared to
R6.5 million in the prior year, and to a reduction in MICC’s
administration expenses following a rationalisation exercise.

Group finance costs, net of interest income, have reduced
from R140.8 million (2006) to R126.9 million (2007) largely as
a result of the utilisation of the proceeds from property sales
to reduce debt, together with the restructuring of MICC’s long-
term debt at lower interest rates.  Whilst part of the R200 million
raised through the placing of 23.1 million linked units in January
2007 was utilised to reduce debt, it had little impact on net
interest payable due to the timing thereof.

Net asset value (NAV) bridge -
movement in group net assets (cents per linked unit)
for the 12 months ended 31 March 2007
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Price performance
During the 12 month period to 31 March 2007, Vukile’s linked
unit price rose from 9.87 cents to 10.77 cents, an increase
of 9.1%.

Liquidity
During the 12 months ended 31 march 2007, R474 million of
linked units were traded which equates to approximately
R40 million per month.  This is equal to 1.5% of the average
market capitalisation of Vukile during the period, which compares
favourably with other PLS companies when evaluated against
the background that 52.5% of the linked units, which are held
by Sanlam and the company’s BEE shareholder, are not traded.

Acquisitions, developments and disposals
Acquisitions and developments:

the expansion and upgrades of the Phoenix Plaza and 

Monthly trading volumes (12 months ended 31 March 2007)

Dobsonville shopping centres were successfully completed
in December 2006 at a cost of R73.0 million (budget
R74.7 million) at an average initial yield of 16.7%;
the purchase of a 50% undivided share in a new value
type retail development in Kings Road Pinetown of
8 450m2, for R30 million, at an initial yield of 9.6%.
The development was completed in December 2006
and transfer of the undivided 50% interest to Vukile is
expected in May 2007;
the purchase of No. 50, Sixth Road, Hyde Park, an
office complex of 4 181m2, for R57.2 million, at an initial
yield of 9.7%.  The property was transferred in September
2006;
the development of a 5 650m2 mini factory and warehousing
complex on undeveloped land at Vukile’s existing Allandale
Park mini factory complex in Midrand at a total capital
outlay of R21 million, with an anticipated net initial yield
of 9.4%.  It is expected that the development will be
completed in December 2007;
the development of an 11 280m2 shopping centre at
Moratiwa Crossing, district Jane Furse, Limpopo Province
at a cost of R61.6 million, with a net initial yield of 9.5%.
Vukile will hold an 86.5% share in this centre which is
expected to be completed in November 2007; and
the acquisition of a 4 369m2 “A” grade office complex
located in West Street Houghton at a total capital outlay
of R33.9 million, with an initial yield of 9.2%.  Transfer
is expected in June/July 2007.

Disposals
As part of Vukile’s ongoing process to improve the quality of
its portfolio, a number of properties were disposed of during
the year, a list of which appears on the following page.

These properties were considered to be non-core, i.e. they
did not conform to the longer term investment criteria of Vukile.

Linked unit price performance
(12 months ended 31 March 2007)
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Directors’ review of operations (continued)

Directors’ Nett
Purchase valuation at sales

price 31 March 2006  price Transfer
Building R000 R000 R000 date

Sandton No.9 Fredman Drive 63 875 59 084 60 150 2006/07/25
Durban West Str OK Bazaars 35 660 43 740 43 740 2006/07/18
Durban Overport City 34 482 45 043 43 729 2006/04/26
Ermelo Mall # 15 000 34 570 34 319 2006/05/01
Middelburg Plaza # 24 363 26 000 25 811 2006/05/01
Phalaborwa OK Bazaars 22 924 25 215 25 213 2006/05/30
Taung Forum # 16 800 24 888 24 704 2006/05/01
Pinetown Halifax Road 20 706 22 289 22 345 2006/11/29
Mkuze Plaza # 15 900 21 753 21 581 2006/05/01
Randburg Hillview Centre 18 509 19 145 18 385 2007/01/31
Orkney Shopping Centre 11 743 15 657 13 759 2006/11/06
Welkom Sanlam Park # 6 500 11 890 11 766 2006/05/01
Pietermaritzburg Heritage House 13 474 10 200 11 563 2006/10/25
Johannesburg Market Str Bradlows 10 902 10 128 7 908 2006/12/18
Johannesburg Denver Relyant 5 661 8 761 7 176 2006/12/14
Middelburg SA Police # 9 000 7 048 6 942 2006/05/01
Bethlehem Maluti Square 10 515 9 296 6 203 2006/11/22
Johannesburg Wynberg 57 Andries Str 2 853 2 851 6 200 2007/02/12
Cape Town Pinelands WJM House # 8 350 4 499 4 399 2006/05/01
Randburg Strijdom Park HiTech Mini Units # 5 050 3 387 3 293 2006/05/01
Witbank Hoskens House # 2 336 2 486 2 399 2006/05/01

Total 354 603 407 930 401 585

Luderitz Pep Stores * 3 600 2 347 2 814 2006/04/06
Total properties sold 358 203 410 277 404 399

# Properties sold to ApexHi.
* Shares and loan account in the subsidiary company owning this property were sold.

Disposals (12 months ended 31 March 2007)

Property portfolio
The group property portfolio as at 31 March 2007 consisted
of 71 properties with a gross lettable area of 898 351m2.

Full details of the company’s property portfolio are set out on
page 48 and 49 of this annual report.  Particulars of the top
25 properties by value appear on the following page.

Property analysis
The geographical and sectoral distribution of the group’s
portfolio are indicated in the graphs on this and the next page.

The portfolio is well represented in most of the provinces,
with the bulk in Gauteng and KwaZulu-Natal.

Sectoral profile at 31 March 2007

% of gross rentals

 % of GLA

Gross
GLA rental

Retail 46 56
Industrial 28 14
Commercial 26 30
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Geographical profile at 31 March 2007

Gross
GLA rental

Gauteng 59 50
Mpumalanga 2 3
Limpopo Province 1 1
KwaZulu-Natal 19 27
Northern Cape - -
Western Cape 7 6
Eastern Cape 1 1
Free State 4 4
Namibia 6 7
North West 1 1

% of gross rental

% of GLA

Directors’
valuation

as at
31 March

Rentable 2007
area (m2)  (Rm)

Phoenix Plaza Durban 24 134   355.1
Durban Embassy Durban 32 376   191.6
Randburg Square Johannesburg 51 370 185.9
Pine Crest (50%) Pinetown 40 249   165.2
Louis Leipoldt Hospital Bellville 20 479 152.0
Dobsonville Shopping Centre Soweto 23 124   135.6
Oshakati Shopping Centre Oshakati 21 591   119.4
Bloemfontein Plaza & Parkade Bloemfontein 38 438   114.7
Roodepoort Hillfox Power Centre Roodepoort 36 004   107.0
Arivia.kom Building Midrand 15 634   105.2
Meadowdale Mall Germiston 35 350   103.9
Route 24 Industrial Park Germiston 34 977     94.0
The Victoria Centre Pietermaritzburg 10 682     89.8
Daveyton Shopping Centre Daveyton 16 983     85.1
Randburg Trevallyn Johannesburg 32 006     74.0
Kokstad Game Centre Kokstad 12 567     72.7
VWL Building Pretoria 16 931     68.7
Hallmark Building Pretoria 25 493     67.0
Sanlam Park East London   9 069     65.1
Mutual & Federal Pretoria 12 093 64.3
Sony Building Midrand 11 274     64.0
Katatura Checkers Centre Katatura 10 525     58.9
Valley View Industrial Park Durban 28 798 50.5
Midrand Allandale Park Midrand 13 378     46.1
Glencairn Building Johannesburg 15 636     43.0

2 678.8
Percentage of total portfolio 69.4%

Top 25 properties by value (at 31 March 2007)
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Directors’ review of operations (continued)

Most of the vacancy at 31 March 2007 was in the retail
component in Randburg Square (3 050m2), Hillfox (3 764m2)
and in Durban Embassy (7 100m2).  The marketing campaign
that was launched at Randburg Square has resulted in the
letting of 7 464m2 (71.2%) of the office space from August
2006, with the current office vacancy at 10.1%.  In addition,
4 613m2 (11.3%) of the retail vacancy at Randburg Square
was let during the year with a retail vacancy of 3 050m2 (7.4%)
at year end.  Furthermore, 6 065m2 (85%) of the vacant space
at Durban Embassy has been let to Wesbank from 1 May
2007.  The overall vacancy in the portfolio (expressed as a
percentage of gross rentals) at year end was 2.9%
(2006: 4.4%).

Vacancy profile: % of gross rentals (at 31 March 2007)

Retail Industrial Commercial Total
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Vacancy profile of individual properties: % of GLA

Percentage

Bedfordview GIS

0 2 4 6 8 10 12

Bloemfontein Plaza
& Parkade

Daveyton Shopping
Centre

Dobsonville Shopping
Centre

Durban Embassy

Durban Phoenix Plaza

Germiston R24

Lichtenburg Sanlam
Centre

Midrand Allandale Park

Nelspruit Prorom

East London Sanlam
Park

Pongola Shopping
Centre

Randburg Square

Randburg Trevallyn

Jhb Erf 915 Parktown
Oakhurst

Glencairn Building,
Eloff Street

Pine Crest Centre

Kokstad Game Centre

Katatura Shoprite
Checkers Centre

Oshakati Shopping
Centre

Ondangwa Shoprite
Checkers

Germiston
Meadowdale Mall

Roodepoort Hillfox
Power Centre

Benoni Kleinfontein
Offices

Qualbert Centre - Dbn

Ndabeni Business Park

Jhb Eva Park

Atlas Road Complex

Botbyl Subaru
Building, Hatfield

VWL Building

Piet Retief
Shopping Centre

Mala Plaza

The lease expiry profile of the group indicates that approximately
46% of the industrial leases expire during the coming year,
with approximately 21.6% the following year.  This is typical of
industrial leases.  The expiry percentages for the commercial
and retail sectors for the year ending March 2008 are 45%
and 22% respectively and indicate no major risk areas.  In fact,
these expiry profiles provide an opportunity for the group to
take advantage of the upward pressure on rentals.

New leases and renewals of 234 392m2, with a contract value
of R458.7 million, were concluded during the year.

The bulk of our leases are with government, large national and
listed tenants and major franchises (approximately 46% of
GLA).  This gives stability to and lowers the risk of the portfolio.
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Industrial lease expiry profile: % of GLA

100

50

0

Percentage

GLA
Cumulative

0.93

0.93

Vacant

46.12

47.05

Mar 08

21.55

68.60

Mar 09

27.70

96.30

Mar 10

2.02

98.32

Mar 11

1.68

100.00

Mar 12

0.00

100.00

Mar 13

0.00

100.00

Mar 14>

Group lease expiry profile: % of GLA
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Commercial lease expiry profile: % of GLA
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Retail lease expiry profile: % of GLA
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National tenant groups: % of GLA (at 31 March 2007)

Percentage



Weighted average gross rental (at 31 March 2007)

R per m2
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Masingita Spar Centre

Mala Plaza
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Piet Retief Shopping Centre

Ndabeni Business Park

De Tijger Office Park

Randburg Triangle

Qualbert Centre - Durban

Nelspruit Game Centre

Benoni Kleinfontein Offices

Roodepoort Robertville Mini Factories

Randburg Tungsten

Roodepoort Hillfox Power Centre

Germiston Meadowdale Mall

Oshikango Ellerines Centre

Oshakati Beares Furniture

Katima Mulilo Pep Stores

Rundu Ellerines

Ondangwa Shoprite Checkers

Oshakati Shopping Centre

Katatura Shoprite Checkers Centre

The Victoria Centre - Pietermaritzburg

Kokstad Game Centre

Hillcrest Centre, Cresta

Pine Crest Centre

Belville Louis Leipoldt

Truworths Centre, Nelspruit

Sony Building (Midrand)

Grosvenor Shopping Centre

50 Sixth Road Hyde Park

DLV Building

Botbyl Subaru Building, Hatfield

Arivia.kom Building (Midrand)

VWL Building

Village Main Industrial Park

Valley View Industrial Park

Truworths Building, Jhb.

Supra Hino

Richmond Park

Pinepark, Pinelands

Mutual and Federal, Pta

John Griffin (2 6th Street Wynberg)

Hellman International

Hallmark Building, 232 Vermeulen Str

Glencairn Building, Eloff Street

Barlow Place, Rivonia

Atlas Road Complex

AAD (Goodwood)

Jhb Erf 915 Parktown Oakhurst

Randburg Trevallyn

Randburg Square

Pongola Shopping Centre

Parow Industrial Park

East London Sanlam Park

Nelspruit Prorom

Midrand Sanitary City

Midrand Allandale Undeveloped Land

Midrand Allandale Park

Lichtenburg Sanlam Centre

Jhb Eva Park

Germiston R24

Durban Phoenix Plaza

Durban Embassy

Dobsonville Shopping Centre

Daveyton Shopping Centre

Centurion N1

259 West Street

Bloemfontein Plaza & Parkade

Bedfordview GIS

Barlows Audi - Kenilworth

227 Andries Street, Pretoria

Valuations
The accounting policies of the company require that the
entire portfolio be valued every six months to fair market
value by the directors.  One half of the portfolio will be
valued annually, on a rotational basis, by registered independent
third party valuers.  The differences between the external
valuer’s valuation and the directors’ valuation (if any) are explained
and reported in the notes to the annual financial statements.

The directors have valued the group’s property portfolio at
R3.86 billion as at 31 March 2007.  This is R206 million (5.6%)
higher than the valuation at 31 March 2006.

The external valuations by JHI Real Estate Limited and Old
Mutual Property Group (Pty) Limited at 31 March 2007 of
54.3% of the total portfolio is R0.8 million (0.04%) higher than
the directors’ valuations of the same properties.

Rental escalation profile
average annual escalation: % of gross rentals

Retail Industrial Commercial

9.4

9.2

9.0

8.8

8.6

8.4

8.2

Percentage

8.9

9.2

8.6
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Directors’ review of operations (continued)

The average annual escalation of the gross rental income
for the portfolio for the year ending 31 March 2008, varies
between 8.6% (retail) and 9.2% (industrial).

The escalations reflected below do not take into account
additional rental income from the new acquisitions and
expansion projects.

Analysis of movement in group
investment properties R000

Investment properties at 31 March 2006 3 668 726
Acquisitions 129 975
Capex and tenant installations 28 550
Disposals (410 956)
Valuation surplus on investment
properties 458 168
Lease commissions capitalised 1 869

Investment properties at 31 March 2007 3 876 332
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Borrowings
The company’s borrowing capacity is, in terms of its articles
of association, not limited.  The board policy is to limit gearing
to 45% of the value of investment properties.  The group’s
gearing ratio at the end of the financial year was 29.9%, which
creates capacity to fund acquisitions, redevelopment and
expansion opportunities.

100% of the group’s long-term interest bearing debt was
fixed at year end at a weighted average rate of 10.19% per
annum.

The borrowings and particulars of interest rate swaps are
detailed in note 13 of the notes to the annual financial statements
contained on pages 30 to 46 of this annual report.  At year
end, the group had unutilised debt facilities of R511 million.

Acquisition of minority interests in MICC
In terms of a circular dated 17 February 2006, it was stated
that since more than 90% of MICC unitholders had accepted
Vukile’s cash offer of R8.841 per MICC linked unit (“the Vukile
offer”), Vukile would exercise its rights in terms of Section 440K
of the Companies Act, 1973 (“the Act”) to compulsorily acquire
all the outstanding MICC linked units which it did not already
own.  However, since an individual (“the objector”) lodged an
objection against such acquisition at the Johannesburg High
Court (“the High Court”), Vukile did not immediately proceed
with such acquisition.

On 15 February 2007, after hearing counsel for the parties,
the High Court ordered that Vukile could proceed forthwith
with the acquisition of the MICC linked units of the objector
and those MICC unitholders he claimed to represent, whilst
other issues in the litigation were referred to full trial proceedings
to be conducted in due course.  If the objector does initiate
trial proceedings, he would have to prove that Vukile acted
unlawfully in compulsorily acquiring his shares and be required
to prove damages.

As a result of the High Court Order, Vukile acquired the balance
of the minority interests in MICC on 14 March 2007 and now
owns 100% of MICC.

MICC’s listings on the JSE and Namibian Stock Exchange
were terminated on Tuesday 3 April 2007.

Transformation
The board of Vukile remains committed to the transformation
of the company.

In this regard, an important milestone was the introduction of
a BEE consortium as a material (25%) shareholder in Vukile.
The consortium has, as its main shareholder, the Buhlobo
Consortium which consists of Mashudu Properties Investments,
Sakhisizwe Holdings, Akhona Properties, Batsalani Properties

and Panavest Properties.  Most of the consortium members
are active players in the property market.  Mr Mlungisi Hlongwane
from Sakhisizwe Holdings has been appointed to the board
of Vukile.  We are confident that we will realise substantial
benefits out of this relationship in the near future.

Due to the fact that the company has very few employees, it
is difficult to implement the recommended and desired
employment equity requirements amongst the staff.  We do,
however, actively pursue the other areas such as skills
development, preferential procurement, enterprise development
and socio-economic development as set out in the Code of
Good Practice as published by the DTI in February 2007.

Strategic initiatives for 2007/2008
Growth remains an important strategic objective for the company
and in this regard we will continue to carry out expansions,
revamps and upgrades to existing properties and we will
continue our efforts to find new investment opportunities in a
difficult market.

In addition, we have embarked on a major cost cutting initiative
and we will address both our procurement and property
management functions in this regard.

Given the board’s commitment to transformation, we will also
continue to implement procedures and policies to ensure that
we adhere, as far as possible, to the requirements of the Code
of Good Practice and to strengthen our BEE credentials and
we expect to show some real progress in this regard.

Prospects
Property fundamentals remain strong.  This is evidenced by
low vacancies, record distribution growth and strong economic
growth.

We therefore anticipate that trading conditions will remain strong
and we do not expect the higher interest rate environment to
have an adverse effect on portfolio income in the foreseeable
future.  We are therefore confident that there can be further
upward pressure on rentals which has allowed us to budget
for growth in distribution broadly in line with what has been
delivered this year.



Anton Dirk Botha (53)
Chairman
BCom, BProc, BCom (Hons), Stanford Executive Programme
Anton spent most of his career building Gensec into a leading
South African investment banking group.  Before becoming a
wholly owned subsidiary of Sanlam in December 2000, Gensec
had a market capitalisation of R10 billion and was one of the
40 largest companies in South Africa.  He serves as a non-
executive director on the boards of the JSE Limited, Sanlam,
The University of Pretoria and Imalivest  He is a past president
of the Afrikaanse Handelsinstituut and a member of the Institute
of Directors.  He previously held positions on boards of various
companies in the mining and financial industries.

Sidney Bernic (53)
Sidney has 20 years’ property management and development
experience.  Since 1980 he has built a group of private
companies operating in healthcare management consulting
and insurance, property development and investments, and
retail stores.

Hendrik Schalk Conradie Bester (56)
BCom (Hons), FIA, AMP
Hendrik was a senior general manager and later an executive
director of Sanlam between 1997 and 2000.  Before 1997,
he held various positions in the Sanlam group.  Other previous
directorships include Gensec, Sankorp and Sanlam Unit Trusts
and the Board of Quantity Surveyors.  He is a past president
of SAPOA, a former director of the Board of Quantity Surveyors
and served on the Van Huysteen Commission on government
properties.  Hendrik also serves on the board of Barnard
Jacobs Mellet Holdings.

(from left to right) Anton Botha, Mlungisi Hlongwane,
Sidney Bernic, Hendrik Bester, Peter Cook, Peter Moyanga,

Michael Potts, Mervyn Serebro and Gerhard van Zyl.

Board of
directors12



Peter John Cook (60)
BSc Eng, MBA
Peter retired as an executive director of Sanlam Capital Markets
(previously named Gensec Bank) and of its parent, Genbel
Securities, in June 2005.  He continues to serve as a non-
executive director of and consultant to both companies.  He
was the deputy chief executive of Gensec Bank from 2001 to
2004, and the Genbel Securities executive director responsible
for finance, risk management and all other support functions
from 1997 to 2000.  From 1993 to 1997, Peter was the finance
and administration director at Engen.  From 1975 to 1993, he
held various managerial positions in Gencor and was a member
of its executive committee from 1988 to1993.

Jonathan Mlungisi Hlongwane (43)
Mlungisi is a director and shareholder of Sakhisizwe Holdings,
which owns a commercial property portfolio across the country,
both in the unlisted and listed property sectors.  Over the last
two years, he has been instrumental in securing investments
in previously disadvantaged areas.  He has been involved in
civic and community movements since 1979 and has served
at various levels within the South African National Civic
Organisation (SANCO).  Currently he is the national president
of SANCO, a position he has held since 1997 when he was
elected at the SANCO National Conference and re-elected at
the 2001 National Conference.

Peter Sipho Moyanga (42)
Peter is a well-recognised expert in the field of franchising,
property and business development.  He was employed by
McDonalds Corporation from 1995 where his initial functions
were as a senior property network developer responsible for
strategic physical brand positioning.  In 1999, Peter was
appointed franchising manager for McDonalds (South Africa)
(Pty) Limited and later in 2001 he was promoted to multi-
department head, responsible for field service, information and
technology department, operations development and
franchising.

Michael John Potts (52)
Financial director
CA(SA), HDip Tax Law (Wits)
Michael was previously an independent advisor to the Bridge
Capital Group on property transactions, property portfolio
assembly, financial structuring and capital raising.  Prior to that,
he was managing and financial director of the South African
company that forms part of the UK-based Hanover Acceptances
Group and was involved in the restructuring of the South African
group and the introduction of effective management reporting
systems and strategic planning methodologies.  Michael was
also a non-executive director of Hanover Acceptances Limited
(United Kingdom) and Outspan International Limited for six and
seven years respectively.

Mervyn Serebro (60)
Mervyn is the chief executive officer of Vusani Property
Investments, a fully empowered privately held consortium
embracing retail and commercial properties.  Mervyn spent
32 years with the OK Bazaars Group within which he held a
number of key positions and directorships.  Mervyn was
integrally involved in the establishment of a South African Bone
Marrow Registry after the untimely death of his son Darren of
leukemia.  He is also the vice chairman of Reach For A Dream.

Gerhard Van Zyl (48)
Chief executive
B Eng (Hons) Hons B (B & A), MBA
Gerhard has 17 years’ experience in the property industry and
was the president of SAPOA during 2003/2004.  He worked
at the Department of Water Affairs of Namibia from 1984 to
1985 whereafter he studied full time towards an MBA degree
at the University of Stellenbosch.  Following this, he was
appointed as senior engineer at MBB Consulting Engineers.
Between 1988 and 2003, he held various positions in the
Sanlam Group and was managing director of Gensec Property
Services prior to joining Vukile.



Board of directors
The board has a formal written charter that takes into account

legislative requirements, King II recommendations and best

practice.

The main functions of the board covered by the charter are:

determining the overall objectives of the company,

developing the strategies to meet those objectives and

monitoring performance;

balancing the interests of all stakeholders of the company;

determining and reviewing mandates and terms of reference

of board committees;

appointing the CEO and delegating authority;

monitoring performance of the CEO and directors;

approving and reviewing company policies;

approving other major company activities, including directors’

remuneration, capital funding, the financial statements,

acquisitions, sales and capital expenditure in terms of an

approval framework approved by the board;

ensuring that a budgeting process exists and measuring

actual performance against budgets;

taking ultimate responsibility for the adequacy of operational

and financial systems as well as regulatory compliance;

and

any other non-financial issues that have not specifically

been mandated to any sub-committee.

The board of Vukile consists of seven non-executive and two

executive directors.  The chairman is a non-executive director.

The board meets at least four times a year.  Remuneration

of non-executive directors is subject to the recommendations

of the human resources and nomination committee to the

board and approved in the annual general meeting.

Four of the seven non-executive directors are independent

and, as such, not subject to any relationship that might interfere

with the execution of their independent judgement.  The wide-

ranging business experience of the directors enables them to

contribute materially to the company’s affairs.

One third of non-executive directors have to retire annually by

rotation and, if eligible, become available for re-election.  Non-

executive directors are obliged to retire at the annual general

meeting following their 65th birthday.

The chairman or the chief executive has to approve any buy

or sell transactions of directors in the linked units of Vukile

(whether, directly or indirectly).  Dealings in the company’s

linked units by directors and employees are subject to the

rules and requirements of the JSE.

The directors of Vukile Property Fund
Limited believe in and support good
corporate governance.  In South
Africa, the King Code of Corporate
Practice and Conduct recommends
how companies should address
corporate governance issues and
the directors of Vukile endorse these
recommendations fully.  The
company has implemented the
relevant recommendations, adjusted
for its specific circumstances.

Corporate
governance14
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only a reasonable, rather than absolute, assurance against
material misstatement or loss.

The board has established an ongoing process for identifying,
evaluating and managing the significant risks of the group.
This has been in place throughout the year ended
31 March 2007 and is regularly reviewed by the board.
Vukile has appointed KPMG Inc. to conduct internal audit
functions based on key risk areas on a regular basis and to
report to the audit and risk committee.  The board regularly
receives reports setting out key financial performance indicators.

The monitoring of key indicators allows the board to consider
control issues.

Approval framework
The company functions within the bounds of a formal approval
framework approved by the board.  The approval framework
covers signing powers of all authorities and approval bodies
within the company as well as for service providers.

Company secretary
All directors have access to the advice and services of the
company secretary, who provides guidance to the board as
a whole and to individual directors with regard to how their
responsibilities should properly be discharged in the best
interests of the company.  The secretary also oversees the
appointment of new directors and assists the chairman and
the chief executive in determining the annual board plan and
formulating governance and board related issues.

Going concern
The board has considered and recorded the facts and
assumptions on which it relies to conclude that the business
will continue as a going concern in the financial year ahead.
The directors are of the opinion that the business will be a
going concern in the year ahead.

Ethics
The directors and staff of Vukile are required to adhere to the
highest ethical standards, as embodied in the written code of
ethics of the company, thereby ensuring that business practices
are conducted in a manner which is beyond reproach.

Board appraisal
During the previous year, the board engaged the services of
the Institute of Directors (IOD) to perform an independent
appraisal of the board’s functioning and to do a performance
review.  During the year under review, the board concluded
a self-assessment of its performance and functioning.  Issues
identified during this exercise are addressed on a continuous
basis.  The next external appraisal and performance review
will be undertaken during the 2008/9 financial year.

Board committees
Audit and risk committee
The committee consists of three non-executive directors.
Meetings are held at least three times a year and the external
and internal auditors as well as management attend the meetings
by invitation.  The committee has its own terms of reference
and there is an external and internal audit charter regulating
the workings of the external and internal auditors.
The terms of reference of the committee includes, inter alia:

the appointment or termination of the services of external
and internal auditors;
the review and approval of financial policies (and any
changes thereto);
the review of audit recommendations; and
the review of the interim and annual financial statements
prior to submission to the board.

The chief executive and the financial director are invited to
attend all meetings.

Human resources and nomination committee
The committee consists of three non-executive directors and
meets at least twice a year.  The chief executive is invited to
attend the meetings.  The terms of reference of the committee
include, inter alia, the following:

the determination and review of the company’s human
resource philosophy and principles;
the company’s remuneration policy;
performance measurement policy;
annual percentage salary increase of staff and executives;
the remuneration of non-executive directors;
recommendations to the board on the appointment of
new executive as well as non-executive directors; and
succession planning for the chairman and chief executive
positions.

Investment committee
The committee consists of four non-executive directors and
two executive directors and meets on an ad hoc basis as and
when required.  The purpose and function of the investment
committee is:

to consider recommendations from management for
acquisitions, capital expenditure or disposals;
to authorise and approve such transactions and capital
expenditure as falls within its approval mandate; and
to make recommendations to the board regarding
transactions and capital expenditure that fall outside its
approval mandate.

Internal control
It is the board’s responsibility to oversee the group’s system
of internal control and to keep its effectiveness under review.
The system is designed to manage, rather than eliminate, the
risk of failure to achieve business objectives and can provide



The annual financial statements set out on pages 18 to 46 are the responsibility of the directors.
The directors are responsible for selecting and adopting sound accounting practices, for maintaining
an adequate and effective system of accounting records, for the safeguarding of assets, and for
developing and maintaining a system of internal control that, among other things, will ensure the
preparation of financial statements that achieve fair presentation.  After conducting appropriate
procedures, the directors are satisfied that the company will be a going concern for the foreseeable
future and have continued to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.
The annual financial statements were approved by the directors and are signed on their behalf by:

Anton Botha Gerhard van Zyl
Chairman Chief executive

Roodepoort
28 May 2007

16    Vukile Property Fund Limited    Annual Report 2007

Directors’
responsibility statement
and approval of the financial statements
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The company secretary hereby certifies, in compliance with Section 268(g) of the Companies Act,
that all returns required have been lodged with the Registrar of Companies and that all such returns
are true and correct.

Emma Yates

Roodepoort
28 May 2007

Declaration by
the company secretary
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Report on the financial statements
We have audited the annual financial statements and group annual financial statements of
Vukile Property Fund Limited, which comprise the directors’ report, the balance sheets as at
31 March 2007, the income statements, the statements of changes in equity and cash flow
statements for the year then ended, a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory notes, as set out on pages 18 to 46.

Directors’ responsibility for the financial statements
The company’s directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and in the manner
required by the Companies Act of South Africa.  This responsibility includes: designing, implementing
and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying
appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the
circumstances.

Auditors’ responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.  We
conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing.  Those standards
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to
the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made
by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of the company and the group as of 31 March 2007, and of their financial performance and their
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards,
and in the manner required by the Companies Act of South Africa.

Grant Thornton
Chartered Accountants (SA)
Registered Auditors

Per: V R de Villiers
Chartered Accountant (SA)
Registered Auditor
137 Daisy Street, Sandown, Johannesburg, 2196

28 May 2007

Independent auditors’ report
to the linked unitholders
of Vukile Property Fund Limited

17
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Summary of financial performance and
distributions
The information presented for the 12 months ended
31 March 2007 has been prepared in accordance with
the International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”)
and the company’s accounting policies.  The results also
comply with the relevant sections of the South African
Companies Act, 1973, as amended.  The financial
information set out in the annual financial statements has
been audited by Grant Thornton.

Vukile's net profit before tax, debenture interest and fair value
adjustment for the group for the year ended 31 March 2007
amounted to R241 million (2006: R223 million).

The board has approved a final distribution of 41.00 cents per
linked unit for the six months ended 31 March 2007, which
brings the total distribution for the 12 months ended 31 March
2007 to 76.75 cents per linked unit compared to the distribution
of 68.5 cents per linked unit in 2006, an increase of 12%.

Overview
Your directors have pleasure in submitting their third

annual report, which forms part of the audited financial

statements of the group and company for the year ended

31 March 2007.

Vukile was listed on 24 June 2004 with a market capitalisation

of approximately R1.3 billion.  The company’s primary

objective was, and still is, to acquire properties with strong

contractual cash flows in order to achieve meaningful capital

appreciation, long-term sustainability and growth in income

distributions to its linked unitholders. The company’s market

capitalisation has increased substantially to R3.2 billion as

at 31 March 2007, an increase of 146% from the date of

listing.

It is pleasing to announce that the group has performed well

over the review period and that profit available for distribution

has increased by 15.6% from R185.8 million to R214.8 million

at 31 March 2007.



Annual Report 2007    Vukile Property Fund Limited    19

and conditions of which are reviewed on a five-year basis.
The outsourced asset management services include, inter alia,
the following:

appointment of property administrators and managing the
property administration contracts;
preparation of business plans for the properties;
preparation of budgets for the properties, including
benchmarking;
drafting and updating of the selling strategy;
management and letting strategies for approval by
Vukile;
bi-annual property valuations;
advising on the replacement value of the buildings;
performance analysis of the portfolio; and
building life cycle forecasting.

The asset management fee to Sanlam Properties is calculated
as 0.35% of the total asset value of Vukile as defined in the
asset management agreement.  This fee can be increased to
0.40% or reduced to 0.30%, depending on the performance
of Vukile relative to a peer group consisting of comparable PLS
companies listed on the JSE Limited Real Estate sector.

Special resolutions
The following special resolutions were passed during the period
under review:

general authority for the directors of the company to
approve the repurchase to a maximum of 20% in aggregate
of the company’s issued capital in any one financial year;
amendment of the “net income” definition in clause
1.1.18 of the Debenture Trust Deed; and
amendment of the clause 4.2.1 of the Debenture Trust
Deed relating to interest entitlement.

Subsidiaries
Details of the company’s subsidiaries are set out in note 6 on
page 34 of this annual report.

Net profit/(loss) after taxation of subsidiaries included in the
group is as follows:

2007 2006
R000 R000

MICC Property Income Fund Limited 44 357 84 963
Vukile Investment Securitisation (VIPS) 92 -
Basfour 2776 (Pty) Ltd
Lekup Property Company
No. 1 (Pty)  Ltd - (3 277)
Lekup Property Company
No. 2 (Pty)  Ltd

Nature of business
Vukile is a property holding and investment company through
the direct and indirect ownership of immovable property.  These
properties are complementary in terms of type and geographical
spread.  The company is listed on the JSE Limited under the
Real Estate sector.

Capital structure
The linked unit structure comprises ordinary shares indivisibly
linked to debentures on a one to one basis.  Collectively, the
linked shares and debentures comprise the linked units which
are traded together as indivisible units.

The authorised capital comprises 400 000 000 ordinary shares
with a par value of one cent each.  Each linked unit comprises
one share of one cent (and a share premium of nine cents)
linked to one debenture of 490 cents.  Interest payable on
one debenture is 490 times greater than the dividend payable
per share.

Movement in linked unit capital

Number of linked units in
issue at 31 March 2006 272 429 490
Further linked units issued in
January 2007 at R8.65*   23 121 387
Total number of linked units
in issue on 31 March 2007 295 550 877

* Represented a 4.3% discount to the weighted average
traded price of Vukile linked units for the 30 trading days
ended 1 December 2006, on an ex-distribution basis.
The proceeds of the above issue were utilised to fund
portfolio-enhancing expenditure and to reduce debt.

Borrowings
Loan covenant restrictions imposed in terms of the securitisation
contracts allows for a 65% loan to value (“LTV”) ratio, whilst
bank debt carries a LTV ratio of 50%.  Notwithstanding the
above, the directors have adopted a strategy to maintain
gearing at below the 45% limit.  The current group LTV ratio
is 29.9% which implies a debt capacity in excess of
R500 million.

Management and administration
The management of Vukile is responsible for the high-level
asset management functions of the company.  However, in
order to minimise Vukile’s infrastructure costs, certain asset
management services are outsourced to Sanlam Properties
(Pty) Limited (“Sanlam Properties”) on a contract, the terms

}
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Directors
Details of the directors, providing the full names, ages,
qualifications and a brief curriculum vitae, are set out on pages
12 and 13 of this annual report.

Composition of the board and sub-committees
The composition of the board of directors and its sub-
committees is detailed in the table below.  Mlungisi Hlongwane
was appointed as a non-executive director on 29 May 2006.

In terms of the articles of association of the company, one third
of non-executive directors have to retire annually by rotation.
Any new directors that have been appointed during a year,
also have to retire at the next annual general meeting.
(Mlungisi Hlongwane retired and was re-elected in terms of
Article 88, at the annual general meeting held on 18 August
2006.)  Non-executive directors are obliged to retire at the
annual general meeting following their 65th birthday.  All retiring
directors will subsequently be eligible for re-election.

Board of directors

Composition of board
Human

Audit resources and
Date of and risk nomination Investment

appointment committee committee committee

Non-executive directors
Anton Dirk Botha (Chairman) 17/05/04 Chairman
Sidney Bernic~ 17/05/04 Member Member
Hendrik Schalk Conradie Bester~ 17/05/04 Chairman Member
Peter John Cook 17/05/04 Member Member
Peter Sipho Moyanga~ 17/05/04 Member* Member
Mervyn Serebro~ 17/05/04 Member Chairman
Jonathan Mlungisi Hlongwane 29/05/06 Member

Executive directors
Gerhard van Zyl (CEO) 24/04/04 Member
Michael John Potts 17/05/04 Member

* Mr Moyanga resigned as a member of the investment committee on 24 May 2007 and was appointed as a member of the audit
and risk committee on 24 May 2007.

** Mr Hlongwane was appointed as a member of the investment committee on 24 May 2007.

Attendance of meetings of the board of directors
Scheduled Attended

Anton Dirk Botha (Chairman)§ 4 4
Sidney Bernic§ 4 4
Hendrik Schalk Conradie Bester§ 4 4
Peter John Cook§ 4 4
Peter Sipho Moyanga§ 4 4
Mervyn Serebro§ 4 4
Jonathan Mlungisi Hlongwane§‡ 4 3‡

Gerhard van Zyl (CEO)† 4 4
Michael John Potts (FD)† 4 4

Attendance of meetings of the audit and risk committee
Special Attended Scheduled Attended

Hendrik Schalk Conradie Bester (Chairman) 1 1 3 3
Peter John Cook 1 0# 3 3
Mervyn Serebro 1 1 3 3

Directors’ report (continued)

*

**
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Attendance of meetings of the human resources 
and nomination committee Special Attended Scheduled Attended

Anton Dirk Botha (Chairman) 1 1 2 2
Sidney Bernic 1 1 2 2
Peter John Cook 1 0# 2 2

Attendance of meetings of the investment committee
All investment opportunities approved during the year were approved on a round-robin basis and ratified at the following board
meeting.

~ Independent
† Executive
§ Non-executive
# With accepted apologies
‡ Appointed 29 May 2006

Directors’ remuneration
Total Total

remuneration remuneration
Long-term per income per income

Directors’ Short-term incentive statement statement
fees Salary bonus bonus+ 2007 2006

R R R R R R

Non-executive directors
Anton Dirk Botha 230 000 230 000 203 520
Sidney Bernic 130 000 130 000 111 300
Hendrik Schalk
Conradie Bester 210 000 210 000 209 880
Peter John Cook 140 000 140 000 130 380
Peter Sipho Moyanga 110 000 110 000 139 920
Mervyn Serebro 150 000 150 000 159 000
Jonathan Mlungisi
Hlongwane 82 500 82 500 -
Keith Bothongo - - 69 960

1 052 500 1 052 500 1 023 960

Executive directors 2 299 000 800 000 8 036 370 11 135 370 4 353 692
Gerhard Van Zyl (CEO) - 1 379 400 480 000 5 563 641 7 423 041 2 613 692
Michael John Potts (FD) - 919 600 320 000 2 472 729 3 712 329 1 740 000

Less:  long-term incentive
bonus accrual to
31 March 2006 (7 182 975) (7 182 975)
Per income statement 1 052 500 2 299 000 800 000 853 395 5 004 895 5 377 652

+ Refer note 20 to the annual financial statements.



Directors’ interest in material contracts
The directors have no interest in material contracts or
transactions, other than those directors involved in the operation
of the company as set out in this report.  There have been no
bankruptcies or voluntary arrangements of the above-named
persons.  The executive directors of Vukile have not acted as
directors with an executive function of any company at the
time of or within the 12 months preceding any of the following
events taking place: receiverships, compulsory liquidations,
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Directors’ interests in linked units
Direct Direct Indirect Indirect Total

beneficial non-beneficial beneficial non-beneficial units

Non-executive directors
Hendrik Schalk Conradie Bester 25 000 25 000
Mervyn Serebro 20 000 20 000
Anton Dirk Botha 1 602 720 1 602 720

Executive directors
Gerhard van Zyl (CEO) 27 600 75 000 102 600
Michael John Potts (FD) 2 500 2 500

Total 50 100 - 100 000 1 602 720 1 752 820

Directors’ interests in notes issued by
Vukile Investment Property Securitisation Direct Direct Indirect Indirect

   (Pty) Limited beneficial non-beneficial beneficial non-beneficial Total
R R R R R

Non-executive directors
Hendrik Schalk Conradie Bester - - 500 000 - 500 000

Total - - 500 000 - 500 000

Movement of directors’ interests in linked units
Units Acquired Disposed of Units

held at during during held at
31/03/2006 the period  the period  31/03/2007

Non-executive directors
Hendrik Schalk Conradie Bester - 25 000 25 000
Mervyn Serebro - 20 000 20 000
Anton Dirk Botha 4 093 720 2 491 000 1 602 720

Executive directors
Gerhard van Zyl (CEO) 97 600 5 000 102 600
Michael John Potts (FD) - 2 500 - 2 500

Total number of linked units 4 191 320 52 500 2 491 000 1 752 820

There have been no changes to directors’ interests between the end of the financial year and 28 May 2007.

Mr Hlongwane has an effective holding of 3.96% in Vukile through his 50% direct beneficial holding in Buhlobo Properties which
has a 31.7% interest in Clidet No. 598, which in turn, holds 25% of Vukile’s units.

creditors’ voluntary liquidations, administrations, company
voluntary arrangements or any composition or arrangement
with its creditors generally or any class of its creditors.  The
directors of Vukile have not been the subject of public criticisms
by statutory or regulatory authorities (including professional
bodies) and have not been disqualified by a court from acting
as directors of a company or from acting in the management
or conduct of the affairs of any company.  There have been
no offences involving dishonesty by the directors of Vukile.

Directors’ report (continued)



Secretary
The company secretary is Emma Yates, 2nd Floor, Meersig
Building, Constantia Boulevard, Constantia Kloof, 1709
(PO Box 5995, Weltevreden Park, 1715).

Distributions
An interim distribution of 35.75 cents per linked unit was paid
on 27 December 2006.  The board of directors has declared
a final distribution of 41.00 cents per linked unit for the six
months ended 31 March 2007, which brings the total distribution
for the year to 76.75 cents per linked unit (2006: 68.5 cents)
an increase of 12% over the previous year.

The last day to trade the linked units cum distribution is

Friday 15 June 2007 and trading commences ex distribution

on Monday 18 June 2007.  The record date to participate in

the distribution is Friday 22 June 2007.

Payment of the distribution will be made to linked unitholders

on Monday 25 June 2007.  In respect of dematerialised

unitholders, the distribution will be transferred to the Central

Securities Depositary Participant or Brokers account on Monday

25 June 2007.  Certificated unitholders’ distributions will be

mailed on or about Monday 25 June 2007.



ASSETS

Non-current assets 3 937 807 3 163 675 3 413 945 2 627 844

Investment properties 3 810 296 3 053 773 2 914 544 2 151 358

Investment properties - at fair value 3 3 876 332 3 094 470 2 962 623 2 184 088

Straight-line rental income adjustment 4 (66 036) (40 697) (48 079) (32 730)

Other non-current assets 127 511 109 902 499 401 476 486

Straight-line rental income asset 4 51 206 26 405 36 686 21 885

Furniture, fittings and computer equipment 5 205 274 134 170

Investment in subsidiaries 6 - - 462 581 454 431

Goodwill 7 76 100 83 223 - -

Current assets 223 382 113 649 79 672 70 396

Straight-line rental income asset 4 14 830 14 292 11 393 10 845

Trade and other receivables 8 21 541 19 680 12 726 11 870

Loans to subsidiaries 6 - - - 7 511

Debenture interest receivable - - 33 577 33 783

Cash and cash equivalents 187 011 79 677 21 976 6 387

Non-current assets held for sale - 574 256 - 329 556

Investment properties - 566 704 - 324 617

Investment properties at fair value 3 - 574 256 - 329 556

Straight-line rental income adjustment 4 - (7 552) - (4 939)

Straight-line rental income asset 4 - 7 552 - 4 939

Total assets 4 161 189 3 851 580 3 493 617 3 027 796

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity and reserves 836 137 482 739 683 360 400 727

Share capital 9 2 956 2 724 2 956 2 724

Share premium 10 17 341 13 354 17 341 13 354

Reserves 11 815 840 456 188 663 063 384 649

Minority interest - 10 473 - -

Non-current liabilities 3 079 211 2 995 529 2 589 716 2 275 379

Linked debentures and premium 12 1 535 971 1 351 708 1 535 971 1 348 324

Other interest bearing borrowings 13 1 127 403 1 315 974 787 702 770 159

Interest rate swap liabilities 7 720 47 166 - 2 657

Deferred taxation 14 408 117 280 681 266 043 154 239

Current liabilities 245 841 373 312 220 541 351 690

Trade and other payables 15 93 883 86 686 72 695 65 632

Short-term bank finance 13 26 529 183 993 26 529 183 993

Amounts owing to subsidiaries 6 - - - 102

Vendor loans - 2 030 - 2 030

Taxation payable 4 253 2 528 141 1 858

Linked unitholders for distribution 121 176 98 075 121 176 98 075

Total equity and liabilities 4 161 189 3 851 580 3 493 617 3 027 796

Group Group Company Company
2007 2006 2007 2006

Note R000 R000 R000 R000
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Property revenue 17 553 480 567 688 402 806 371 823

Straight-line rental income accrual 22 100 19 144 10 943 17 242

Distributions from MICC 18 - - 60 027 48 550

Gross property revenue 575 580 586 832 473 776 437 615

Property expenses 19 (195 751) (201 174) (146 244) (134 129)

Net profit from property operations 379 829 385 658 327 532 303 486

Administrative expenses 20 (12 032) (21 598) (10 533) (19 248)

Investment and other income 22 12 122 4 355 4 188 7 322

Operating profit before finance costs 379 919 368 415 321 187 291 560

Finance costs 23 (139 022) (144 978) (93 212) (87 777)

Net profit before debenture interest 240 897 223 437 227 975 203 783

Debenture interest (213 088) (200 632) (212 406) (184 859)

Net profit before capital items 27 809 22 805 15 569 18 924

Capital items

Loss on sale of re-valued properties (5 878) - (771) -

Realised capital profit on property sales 46 196 - 12 738 -

Less:  Prior revaluations of sold properties (52 074) - (13 509) -

Amortisation of debenture premium 416 - 416 -

Fair value adjustments 436 068 449 311 376 206 304 752

Gross change in fair value of investment properties 458 168 468 455 387 149 321 994

Straight-line rental income adjustment (22 100) (19 144) (10 943) (17 242)

Net profit before taxation 458 415 472 116 391 420 323 676

Taxation 24 (137 273) (127 659) (115 230) (87 731)

Net profit 321 142 344 457 276 190 235 945

Attributable to:

Linked unitholders of the company 320 639 317 631

Minority 503 26 826

321 142 344 457

Total number of linked units in issue at 31 March 295 550 877 272 429 490

Weighted average number of linked units in issue 276 927 075 268 619 298

Earnings per linked unit (cents) 192.49 187.06

Group Group Company Company
2007 2006 2007 2006

Note R000 R000 R000 R000

Income statements
for the year ended 31 March 2007
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Interest distribution 212 406 97 194 35.68 115 212 38.98

Dividend distribution 433 199 0.07 235 0.08

212 839 97 393 35.75 115 447 39.06

Pre-issue debenture interest offset 

against debenture and share premium 5 731 - - 5 731 1.94

Total distribution 218 570 97 393 35.75 121 177 41.00

Interest distribution 184 859 86 984 32.43 97 875 35.93

Dividend distribution 377 177 0.07 200 0.07

Total distribution 185 236 87 161 32.50 98 075 36.00

First Second
Distribution to Vukile unitholders for Total First cents per Second cents per
the year ended 31 March 2007 R000 R000 linked unit R000 linked unit

First Second
Distribution to Vukile unitholders for Total First cents per Second cents per
the year ended 31 March 2006 R000 R000 linked unit R000 linked unit
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GROUP
Balance at 31 March 2005 2 682 13 009 160 685 4 853 26 392 207 621
Linked units issued in acquiring 
property 42 345 - - - 387
Increased holding in business
combination acquired previously - - - - (47 111) (47 111)
Net income recognised directly 
in equity - - (26 604) - - (26 604)

Novation of original  

interest rate swaps - - 20 562 - - 20 562

Cash flow hedges - - (59 702) - - (59 702)

Transferred to income 

statement - - 12 536 - - 12 536
Net profit for the year - - - 317 631 26 826 344 457
Change in fair value of 
investment properties - - 468 455 (468 455) - -
Deferred taxation on change in 
fair value of investment properties - - (120 135) 120 135 - -
Deferred taxation on straight-
line rental accrual - - (5 619) 5 619 - -
Allocation of change in fair value 
of investment properties in 
respect of minorities - - (25 984) 25 984 - -
Minorities’ share of post 
acquisition distribution - - - - 4 366 4 366
Dividend distribution - - - (377) - (377)
Balance at 31 March 2006 2 724 13 354 450 798 5 390 10 473 482 739
Linked units issued in acquiring 
property 232 3 987 - - - 4 219
Increased holding in business 
combination acquired previously - - - - (10 976) (10 976)
Net income recognised directly 
in equity - - 39 446 - - 39 446

Novation of original  

interest rate swaps - - (2 657) - - (2 657)

Cash flow hedges - - 48 632 - - 48 632

Transferred to income 

statement - - (6 529) - - (6 529)
Net profit for the year 320 639 503 321 142
Change in fair value of 
investment properties - - 458 168 (458 168) - -
Deferred taxation on change in
fair value of investment properties - - (127 366) 127 366 - -
Deferred taxation on straight-
line rental accrual - - (6 561) 6 561 - -
Allocation of change in fair value 
of investment properties in 
respect of minorities - - (535) 535 - -
Transfer from non-distributable 
reserves - - (5 878) 5 878 - -
Dividend distribution - - - (433) - (433)
Balance at 31 March 2007 2 956 17 341 808 072 7 768 - 836 137

Non-distri-
Share Share butable Retained Minority

capital premium reserves income interest Total
R000 R000 R000 R000 R000 R000

Statements of changes in equity
for the year ended 31 March 2007
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COMPANY
Balance at 1 April 2005 2 682 13 009 129 900 1 276 146 867
Issue of linked units 42 345 - - 387

Net income recognised directly in equity - - 17 905 - 17 905

Novation of original interest rate swaps - - 20 562 - 20 562

Cash flow hedges - - (10 190) - (10 190)

Transferred to income statement - - 7 533 - 7 533

Net profit for the year - - - 235 945 235 945

Change in fair value of investment properties - - 321 994 (321 994) -

Deferred taxation on change in fair value

of investment properties - - (82 322) 82 322 -

Deferred taxation on straight-line rental 

accrual - - (5 000) 5 000 -

Dividend distribution - - - (377) (377)

Balance at 31 March 2006 2 724 13 354 382 477 2 172 400 727
Issue of linked units 232 3 987 - - 4 219

Net income recognised directly in equity - - 2 657 - 2 657

Novation of interest rate swaps - - 2 657 - 2 657

Cash flow hedges - - - - -

Transferred to income statement - - - - -

Net profit for the year - - - 276 190 276 190

Change in fair value of investment 

properties - - 387 149 (387 149) -

Transfer from non-distributable reserves - - (771) 771 -

Deferred taxation on change in fair value 

of investment properties - - (109 100) 109 100 -

Deferred taxation on straight-line rental 

accrual - - (3 174) 3 174 -

Dividend distribution - - - (433) (433)

Balance at 31 March 2007 2 956 17 341 659 238 3 825 683 360

Non-distri-
Share Share butable Retained

capital premium reserves income Total
R000 R000 R000 R000 R000
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CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING 
ACTIVITIES 19 276 26 300 28 642 16 602

Cash generated from operations 26.1 349 089 347 929 318 277 268 763

Investment and other income 12 122 4 228 4 188 7 301

Finance costs (139 022) (144 978) (93 212) (87 777)

Distributions paid 26.2 (195 469) (179 411) (195 469) (171 641)

Taxation paid 26.3 (7 444) (1 468) (5 142) (44)

CASH FLOW GENERATED FROM/
(UTILISED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES 236 081 (204 419) (71 144) (203 042)

Acquisition of and improvements to 

investment properties (160 394) (62 198) (159 420) (54 018)

(Acquisition)/proceeds on disposal of 

furniture and fittings (17) 148 (17) -

Proceeds on disposal of investment 

properties 401 585 3 649 96 819 -

Additional business combination acquired (7 907) (145 935) - -

Net proceeds on disposal of subsidiary 2 814 - - -

Acquisition of subsidiaries - - (8 526) (145 760)

Acquisition of furniture, fittings and 

computer equipment - (83) - (26)

Loans to subsidiaries - - - (3 238)

CASH FLOW (UTILISED IN)/GENERATED
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (148 023) 233 735 58 091 190 365

Proceeds from the issue of linked units 198 012 34 583 198 012 34 583

Interest bearing borrowings (repaid)/raised (346 035) 199 152 (139 921) 155 782

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 107 334 55 616 15 589 3 925

Cash and cash equivalents at the 

beginning of the year 79 677 24 061 6 387 2 462

Cash and cash equivalents at the 
end of the year 187 011 79 677 21 976 6 387

Group Group Company Company
2007 2006 2007 2006

Note R000 R000 R000 R000

Cash flow statements
for the year ended 31 March 2007
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1 Accounting policies
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the
Companies Act of South Africa, 1973.
1.1 Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the measurement of investment
properties and certain financial instruments at fair value and incorporate the principal accounting policies set out
below.  These accounting policies have been applied consistently with the previous year.

1.2 Investment properties
Investment properties, which are stated at fair market value, constitute land and buildings held by the company for
rental producing purposes.  Investment property is initially recorded at cost which includes transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition thereof.  The directors value all the properties annually to fair market value.  At least
50% of all properties are valued bi-annually on a rotational basis by qualified independent external property valuers
and any differences between the respective valuations are reported in the notes to the financial statements.  
Costs include costs incurred initially and costs incurred subsequently to add to, or to replace a part of a property.
Tenant installation costs are capitalised to the cost of a building and are not amortised.  If a replacement part is
recognised in the carrying amount of the investment property, the carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised.
Fair market value is the open market value, which, in the opinion of the directors, is the fair market price at which the
property would have been sold unconditionally on a willing buyer, willing seller basis for a cash consideration on the
date of the valuation.  Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment properties are
recognised in net profit and loss for the period in which they arise.  Such gains or losses are excluded from the
calculation of distributable earnings.
Gains or losses on the disposal of investment properties are recognised in net profit or loss, and are calculated as
the difference between the net selling price and the fair value of the property as valued in the most recent annual
financial statements.  Such gains or losses are excluded from the calculation of distributable earnings.

1.3 Taxation
The charge for current taxation is based on the results for the year as adjusted for items which are non-assessable
or disallowable and any adjustment for tax payable or receivable for previous years.
Current tax liabilities/(assets) for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be paid to/
(recovered from) the taxation authorities, using the tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the balance sheet date.
Temporary differences are differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting
purposes and their tax base.  The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the tax rates and tax laws in the
expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities that have been enacted
by the balance sheet date.
A deferred tax liability is recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except to the extent that the deferred tax
liability arises from:
(a) the initial recognition of goodwill; or
(b) goodwill for which amortisation is not deductible for tax purposes; or
(c) the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which:

(i) is not a business combination; and
(ii) at the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit/(tax loss).

A deferred tax asset is recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary difference can be utilised, unless the deferred
tax asset arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that: 
(a) is not a business combination; and
(b) at the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit/(tax loss).
The effect on deferred tax of any changes in tax rates is recognised in the income statement, except to the extent
that it relates to items previously charged or credited directly to equity.  Deferred tax assets are offset against
deferred tax liabilities.
A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available, against
which the associated unused tax losses and deductible temporary differences can be utilised.  Deferred tax assets
are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

1.4 Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the balance sheet when the company has become party to
the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets
The company’s principal financial assets are trade receivables, cash and cash equivalents and loans to
subsidiaries.  These financial assets are initially and subsequently measured at fair value.
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1.4 Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities
The company’s principal financial liabilities are debentures, interest bearing bank loans, trade and other
payables and other non-interest bearing borrowings.  Interest bearing bank loans and overdrafts are initially
recorded at the proceeds received net of direct issue costs.  Interest bearing bank loans are subsequently
measured at amortised cost.  Trade and other payables are stated at fair value.  Debentures are carried at
amortised cost.
Gains and losses on subsequent measurement
Gains and losses arising from a change in the fair value of the financial instruments are included in net profit
or loss in the period in which the change arises.  Such gains and losses are excluded from the calculation of
distributable earnings.
Derivative instruments
The group uses derivative financial instruments including interest rate swaps, swaptions, forward rate
agreements and interest rate caps to hedge its exposure to interest rates.  It is the policy of the group not to
trade in derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes.  Derivative financial instruments are initially
recognised at fair value.

In terms of hedge accounting, hedges are either (a) fair value hedges, which hedge the exposure to changes in the
fair value of a recognised asset or liability or (b) cash flow hedges, which hedge exposure to variability in cash flows.
In the case of fair value hedges, any gains or losses from changes in the fair value of the hedging instrument, are
recognised immediately in the profit or loss for the period.
Gains and losses on the effective portion of cash flow hedging instruments in respect of forecast transactions are
recognised directly in equity.  Any ineffective portion of a cash flow hedge is recognised in profit or loss before
taxation for the period.  Portions of gains and losses that have been recognised directly into equity are reclassified
as interest expenditure in the same period during which the asset acquired or liability assumed affects profit or loss.

1.5 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past
event, for which it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will occur.

1.6 Revenue recognition
Revenue comprises operating lease income, operating expense recoveries charged to tenants and interest income.
Dividends are recognised when the company’s right to receive payment is established.
Operating lease income is recognised as income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Interest is brought into account using the effective interest method.
Contingent rents (turnover rental) are included in revenue when the amounts can be reliably measured.

1.7 Letting commissions
Letting commissions are capitalised and amortised over the lease period.  The carrying value is included with
investment properties.

1.8 Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, deposits held at
call with banks and investments in money market instruments, net of bank overdrafts, all of which are available for
use by the group.

1.9 Basis of consolidation
The group annual financial statements include the financial statements of the company and its subsidiaries.  The
operating results of the subsidiaries are included from the effective dates of acquisition up to the effective dates of
disposal.
Inter-company balances and transactions are eliminated.
Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring the accounting policies
used into line with those used by the group.
Investment in subsidiaries is carried at cost in the company's financial statements, less any accumulated impairment.

1.10 Goodwill
Goodwill arising on consolidation represents the excess of the cost of acquisition over the group’s interest in the fair
value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of a subsidiary, associate or jointly controlled entity
at the date of acquisition.  Goodwill is recognised as an asset at its carrying amount less any accumulated
impairment.
Goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities is presented separately in the balance
sheet.
Negative goodwill is recognised in profit or loss immediately.

1.11 Impairment losses
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

1.12 Furniture, fittings and computer equipment
Furniture, fittings and computer equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses.
Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost less residual value of assets over their estimated useful lives,
using the straight-line basis.
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1 Accounting policies (continued)
1.12 Furniture, fittings and computer equipment (continued)

The principal useful lives used for this purpose are:
computer equipment 3 years;
computer software 2 years; and
furniture and equipment 6 years.

The residual value and useful life of an asset are reviewed at each financial year end.
1.13 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the
cost of those assets.  Capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale.  Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised.  Borrowing costs are
expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

1.14 Share-based payments
Goods or services received or acquired in a share-based payment transaction are recognised when the goods or as
the services are received.  A corresponding increase in equity is recognised if the goods or services were received
in an equity-settled, share-based payment transaction or a liability if the goods or services were acquired in a cash-
settled, share-based payment transaction.
When the goods or services received or acquired in a share-based payment transaction do not qualify for
recognition as assets, they are recognised as expenses.
For cash-settled, share-based payment transactions, the goods or services acquired and the liability incurred are
measured at the fair value of the liability.  Until the liability is settled, the fair value of the liability is re-measured at
each reporting date and at the date of settlement, with any changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss for the
period.
If the share-based payments granted do not vest until the counterparty completes a specified period of service,
Vukile accounts for those services on a straight-line basis over the vesting period.
If the share-based payments vest immediately, the services received are recognised in full.

1.15 Non-current assets held for sale
Non-current assets held for sale are assets that will be recovered principally through a sale transaction.  These
assets are measured at the lower of their carrying amounts and fair value less costs to sell.

1.16 Segmental reporting
On a primary basis, the group operates in the following sectors:

retail;
offices; and
industrial.

Properties are classified as retail, commercial and industrial according to the nature of their tenants and income and
expenses for all of the properties comprising the various segments are consolidated accordingly.
The geographical split is a secondary segmentation.  The geographic breakdown of the value and gross lettable
area of the property portfolio is disclosed in the directors’ review of operations.

1.17 New and amended International Financial Reporting Standards not yet adopted
The International Accounting Standards Board issued a number of standards, amendments to standards and
interpretations during 2006 as follows:

Amendment to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements:  Capital Disclosures
Effective date: 1 January 2007
This amendment relates to additional disclosure that will enable users of its financial statements to evaluate
the entity’s objectives, policies and processes for managing capital;
IFRIC 10 Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment
Effective date: 1 November 2006
An impairment loss recognised in a previous interim period in respect of goodwill or an investment in either
an equity instrument or financial asset carried at cost cannot be reversed;
IFRS 7 Financial Instruments:  Disclosures
Effective date: 1 January 2007
The disclosure requirements of IFRS 7 require additional qualitative and quantitative disclosures compared to
that required in terms of the existing IFRS; and
IFRS 8 Operating Segments
Effective date: 1 January 2009
IFRS 8 requires the identification of operating segments on the basis of internal reports that are regularly
reviewed by the “chief operating decision maker” in order to allocate to the segment and assess its
performance.
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1.17 New and amended International Financial Reporting Standards not yet adopted (continued)
IFRS 8 requires a reconciliation for total reportable segments to the total reported IFRS figures for all of the
following items:

revenue;
profit of loss before (or after, in certain circumstances) income tax expense/income and discontinued
operations;
assets;
liabilities; and
every other material item of information disclosed as required by IFRS 8.

The company is currently evaluating the impact of the above but does not expect any significant effect on the
financial statements.
Any changes will be implemented in the accounting period commencing after the effective dates.

2 Key estimations and uncertainties
Estimates and assumptions are an integral part of financial reporting and as such have an impact on the amounts reported
in the group’s income, expenses, assets and liabilities.  Judgement in these areas is based on historical experience and
reasonable expectations relating to future events.
Information on the key estimations and uncertainties that have had the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in
the financial statements are set out in the following notes in the financial statements:

accounting policies - notes 1.2, 1.4, 1.6, 1.10, 1.11 and 1.14;
investment property valuation - note 3;
trade and other receivables - note 8; and
deferred taxation - note 14.

3 Investment properties
Stated at fair value

Property acquisitions 2 919 235 1 899 213 2 029 188 1 899 213
Capex and tenant installations 53 515 26 894 46 564 20 615
Net additions from business 
acquisition - 941 412 - -
Acquisition costs capitalised 47 412 35 403 35 403 35 403
Net gain from fair value adjustment 
of investment properties 1 253 597 757 694 938 125 550 976
Property disposals (410 956) (3 550) (97 591) -

Fair value 3 862 803 3 657 066 2 951 689 2 506 207
Lease commissions 13 529 11 660 10 934 7 437

At end of year 3 876 332 3 668 726 2 962 623 2 513 644
Less:  Fair value of investment 
properties held for sale - (574 256) - (329 556)

3 876 332 3 094 470 2 962 623 2 184 088

3.1 Details of investment properties
The directors have valued the group’s property portfolio at R3.86 billion as at 31 March 2007 using the discounted
cash flow of the future income stream method.
The directors’ valuations of the 54.3% of the total portfolio that was valued at 31 March 2007 by sworn independent
appraisors, JHI Real Estate Ltd (“JHI”) and Old Mutual Property Group (Pty) Ltd (“Old Mutual”) is R0.8 million (0.04%)
lower than JHI and Old Mutual’s valuation of the same properties.
The portfolios referred to above were valued by the valuation division of Sanlam Properties (Pty) Ltd.  These
valuations were reviewed and approved by the directors of the company, whose experience is reflected in the
directors’ report.
The directors’ valuations are supported by the sworn independent appraisors referred to above.  These valuers have
extensive experience in commercial, retail and industrial valuations throughout South Africa.  
The group’s properties are encumbered as security for the securitised debt and bank loans to the value of 
R1 154 million.
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3 Investment properties (continued)
3.2 Movement for the year

Investment properties at valuation 1 April 3 668 726 3 141 623 2 513 644 2 137 546
Capex and tenant installations 28 550 21 587 25 949 15 308
Investment properties acquired 129 975 34 400 129 975 34 400
Acquisition costs capitalised - 247 - 247
Change in fair value of investment properties 458 168 468 455 387 149 321 994
Disposal of investment properties (410 956) (3 550) (97 591) -
Lease commissions capitalised 1 869 5 964 3 497 4 149

Investment properties at valuation 31 March 3 876 332 3 668 726 2 962 623 2 513 644
Reflected on the balance sheet under:

Non-current assets 3 876 332 3 094 470 2 962 623 2 184 088
Non-current assets held for sale - 574 256 - 329 556

3 876 332 3 668 726 2 962 623 2 513 644

4 Straight-line rental income adjustment
Balance at 1 April 48 249 29 105 37 669 20 427
Movement on sold properties (4 313) - (533) -
Current year movement 22 100 19 144 10 943 17 242
Balance at 31 March 66 036 48 249 48 079 37 669
Non-current portion 51 206 26 405 36 686 21 885
Current portion 14 830 14 292 11 393 10 845
Non-current held for sale - 7 552 - 4 939
Balance at 31 March 66 036 48 249 48 079 37 669

5 Furniture, fittings and computer equipment
Cost 491 474 297 280
Accumulated depreciation

Depreciation charge (286) (200) (163) (110)
Carrying value 205 274 134 170

5.1 Movement for the year
Net carrying value at 1 April 274 461 170 207
Additions 17 83 17 26
Disposals - (144) - -
Depreciation (86) (126) (53) (63)

Net carrying value at 31 March 205 274 134 170

6 Investment in subsidiaries
Linked units at cost: 100% holding in 
MICC Property Income Fund
Limited (2006:  98.88%) - - 462 581 454 431

Special purpose entity
Vukile Investment Property Securitisation (Pty)
Ltd (“VIPS”)* - - - -

Total investment in subsidiaries - - 462 581 454 431

Loans to subsidiaries
Loan to VIPS - - - 7 052
Loan to MICC Properties (Pty) Ltd - - - 459

Total loans to subsidiaries - - - 7 511
Loans from subsidiaries - - - (102)

* Special purpose entity acquired 7 November 2005.
All subsidiaries are incorporated in the Republic of South Africa.

Group Group Company Company
2007 2006 2007 2006
R000 R000 R000 R000
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7 Goodwill
Goodwill arose on the acquisition of 100% of a cash generating unit, MICC Property Income Fund Limited, which
represents a premium paid on the net assets and liabilities purchased.
The cash-generating unit has been valued using the discounted cash flow method for the acquisitions in both reporting
periods at amounts significantly in excess of net asset value and goodwill.  Goodwill is, therefore, not impaired.

Opening balance 83 223 58 589 - -
Arising on acquisition of 1.123% 
(2006: 98.88%) of MICC Property 
Income Fund Limited 721 24 634 -
Less:  Pre-acquisition profits on 
acquisition of MICC from minorities (7 844) - -

Closing Balance 76 100 83 223 -

8 Trade and other receivables
Rental debtors 12 897 16 996 10 264 10 768
Prepaid expenses 5 482 379 684 379
Sundry debtors 3 162 2 305 1 778 723

Total 21 541 19 680 12 726 11 870

9 Share capital
Authorised - par value shares

400 000 000 ordinary shares of 
one cent each 4 000 000 4 000 000 4 000 000 4 000 000

Issued
295 550 877 (2006: 272 429 490) 
ordinary shares of one cent each
Issued for the acquisition of properties 2 093 2 093 2 093 2 093
Issued as consideration for the acquisition 
of MICC Property Income Fund Limited 863 631 863 631

In issue at end of the year 2 956 2 724 2 956 2 724

In terms of the memorandum of association and the debenture trust deed, the shares are linked with unsecured,
subordinated, variable-rate debentures of four hundred and ninety cents each.  This linkage means that each share may
only be issued and traded together with the debenture with which it is indivisibly linked. 
Shares under control of the directors
5% of the authorised shares of the company are under the control of the directors.  This authority expires at the next
annual general meeting.

10 Share premium
Arising on the acquisition of 
properties 7 679 7 679 7 679 7 679
Arising on the acquisition of MICC 
Property Income Fund Limited 9 662 5 675 9 662 5 675

Balance at the end of the year 17 341 13 354 17 341 13 354

11 Reserves
Non-distributable reserves 808 072 450 798 659 238 382 477
Retained income 7 768 5 390 3 825 2 172

815 840 456 188 663 063 384 649

Annual Report 2007    Vukile Property Fund Limited    35

Group Group Company Company
2007 2006 2007 2006
R000 R000 R000 R000

Group Group Company Company
2007 2006 2007 2006
R000 R000 R000 R000



12 Linked debentures and premium
Issued

295 550 877 (2006: 272 429 490) 
unsecured subordinated, variable-rate 
debentures of 490 cents 1 448 199 1 334 905 1 448 199 1 334 905
Debenture premium 87 772 13 419 87 772 13 419
Minority interest in 752 035 MICC 
unsecured, subordinated variable-rate
debentures of 450 cents each - 3 384 - -

1 535 971 1 351 708 1 535 971 1 348 324

The issue of each debenture is linked to one ordinary share in the share capital of the company, together comprising one
linked unit.  Any further issues of linked units will be in the same ratio.  In terms of the Debenture Trust Deed, the aggregate
interest entitlement of every debenture linked to each ordinary share in respect of any financial year shall not be less than
99% of distributable earnings of an income nature unless the directors exercise their discretion to reduce this percentage
below 99%, but in excess of 90% prior to 31 March each year.  The debentures will be redeemed at their par value in
accordance with the provisions of this trust deed and/or the relevant supplemental Debenture Trust Deed in the ordinary
course as and when they fall due for payment.  The issue of debentures will be redeemable by the company in full at any
time after 25 (twenty-five) years after the date of allotment of the relevant debentures.  The debenture holders may exercise
the right to require the debentures to be redeemed in accordance with the Debenture Trust Deed, only by special
resolution, where after the debentures shall be redeemed by the company at their nominal value on the last Friday, which
must be a business day, prior to the 5th (fifth) anniversary of the date on which the special resolution is passed.

13 Other interest bearing borrowings
Secured fixed rate loans 339 701 502 445 762 002 716 803

ABSA Bank Limited 88 479 - -
Nedbank Limited 251 222 251 222 -
The Standard Bank of South 
Africa Limited - 251 223 - -
Vukile Investment Property 
Securitisation (Pty) Ltd 
(“VIPS”) - - 770 000 726 630

Less:  Net debt raising fee offset
against borrowings - - (7 998) (9 827)

Secured variable rate loans 787 702 813 529 25 700 53 356
Noteholders 770 000 770 000 - -

Less:  net debt raising fee offset 
against borrowings (7 998) (9 827) - -
ABSA Warehouse facility 25 700 53 356 25 700 53 356

Interest bearing borrowings - non-current 1 127 403 1 315 974 787 702 770 159
Interest bearing borrowings - current
ABSA Access facility 26 529 183 993 26 529 183 993

Group Group Company Company
2007 2006 2007 2006
R000 R000 R000 R000
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13 Other interest bearing borrowings (continued)
Details of interest bearing borrowings - 31 March 2007
Vukile Investment Property Securitisation (Pty) Limited (“VIPS”) is Vukile's securitisation vehicle which issued R770 million of
variable rate notes to noteholders.  The funds so raised were on-lent to Vukile as a fixed interest rate loan.

Fixed rate loans
Total facility available from VIPS
Facility utilised R770 million
Date of repayment R462 million - November 2010

R308 million - November 2012
Fixed interest rate 9.95% and 10.06% (NACQ) all-in rate for the above loans.
Repayment terms Interest only, quarterly in arrears. Capital on maturity.
Overall financial covenants
Loan to investment property valuation ratio 65% (currently 28%)
Interest cover ratio 2.0:1 (currently 3.6:1)
Security Secured by way of mortgage bonds over securitised investment

properties and a pledge of rentals receivable.
Nedbank
Amount R251.2 million
Date of repayments August 2011
Term 5 years
Fixed interest rate (NACQ) 10.66%
Repayment terms Interest only, monthly in arrears.  Capital on maturity.
Security Secured by way of mortgage bonds over MICC’s investment

properties and a pledge of rentals receivable.
Variable rate loans
ABSA Bank
Total facility available R251.2 million
Facility utilised R88.5 million
Date of repayment July 2011
Variable interest rate 3 months JIBAR plus 1.40% 
Repayment terms Interest only, monthly in arrears.  Capital on maturity. 
Loan to investment property valuation ratio 50% (currently 37%)
Interest cover ratio 1.8:1 times after inter-company adjustment (currently 2.2:1).
Security Secured by way of mortgage bonds over MICC’s investment

properties and a pledge of rentals receivable.
Variable rate loans
VIPS
Amount owing to note holders R770 million
Date of repayment R462 million - November 2010

R308 million - November 2012
Variable interest 3 months JIBAR plus note margins.
Repayment terms Interest only quarterly in arrears.  Capital on maturity.
Loan to investment property valuation ratio 65% (currently 28%)
Interest cover ratio 2.0:1 (currently 3.6:1)
Security Secured by way of mortgage bonds over securitised investment

properties and a pledge of rentals receivable.
ABSA Bank
Access facility R100 million
Facility utilised R26.5 million
Date of repayment On demand
Variable interest rate Prime less 2%
Warehouse facility R350 million
Facility utilised R25.7 million
Date of repayment November 2010
Variable interest JIBAR plus 1.4%
Overall financial covenants
Loan to investment property valuation ratio 50% (currently 10%)
Interest cover ratio 2.0:1 (currently 3.6:1)
Security Secured by way of mortgage bonds over non-securitised investment

properties and a pledge of rentals receivable.

An overdraft of R30 million and a hedging facility of R112.5 million have been provided by ABSA Bank to the
company.  These facilities are also secured by mortgage bonds over the non-securitised investment properties.
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13 Other interest bearing borrowings (continued)
Interest Rate Swaps
COMPANY
At 31 March 2007 the company had entered into an interest rate swaption to cover its unhedged access facility of 
R100 million (currently R26.3 million utilised).

Option style European Call Option
Option seller ABSA Bank Limited
Notional amount (Rm) 50
Strike rate (NACQ) 8.70%
Premium (R000) 390 
Exercise date 4 July 2007
Maturity date 4 July 2008

GROUP
In July 2006 a subsidiary entered into an interest rate swaption to cover its unutilised access facility of R62.7 million as
follows:

Option style European Call Option
Option seller ABSA Bank Limited
Notional amounts (Rm) 62.7
Strike rate (NACQ) 8.70%
Premium (R000) 533
Exercise date 11 July 2007
Maturity date 11 July 2008

At 31 March 2007 the group had entered into interest rate swaps whereby R770 million variable rate loans had been
converted to fixed rate debt at an all-in rate of 9.95% (5 year loans) and 10.06% (7 year loans) NACQ.

Nominal value (Rm) 462 308 770
Swap period 5 years 7 years
Maturity date November 2010 November 2012

R88.5 million variable rate loan had been 
converted to fixed rate 5-year debt at 
a rate of 10.36% (NACQ).

Nominal value (Rm) 88.5
Swap period 5 years
Maturity date July 2011

JIBAR - Johannesburg Interbank Acceptance Rate
NACQ - Nominal Annual Compounded Quarterly

Borrowing powers
The borrowing capacity of the company and its subsidiaries, in terms of their articles of association, is unlimited, but is
subject to loan covenants as detailed in this note.
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14 Deferred taxation
Deferred taxation liabilities comprise the following:

Arising on acquisition of MICC 69 146 69 146 - -
Fair value adjustments 325 918 203 863 257 004 147 904
Straight-line rental income adjustment 15 388 9 938 11 136 7 962
Other temporary differences (2 335) (2 266) (2 097) (1 627)

408 117 280 681 266 043 154 239
Movement

Balance at 1 April 280 681 156 395 154 239 68 388
Deferred taxation on fair value adjustment 127 366 120 135 109 100 81 500
Deferred taxation on straight-line rental 
income adjustment 6 561 5 619 3 174 5 000
Deferred taxation on temporary difference (69) (1 468) (470) (649)
Deferred taxation arising on sold subsidiary (668) - - -
Deferred taxation on sold properties (5 754) - - -

Balance at 31 March 408 117 280 681 266 043 154 239

15 Trade and other payables
Trade creditors 16 711 18 837 14 396 18 381
Accrued expenses 59 117 50 110 44 635 36 575
Tenant deposits 18 055 17 739 13 664 10 676

93 883 86 686 72 695 65 632

16 Financial instruments
The group’s financial instruments consist mainly of interest rate swaps, deposits with banks, accounts receivable and
payable, long-term borrowings and loans to and from subsidiaries.  In respect of all financial instruments listed above, the
book value approximates fair value.  The group purchases or issues financial instruments to finance operations and to
manage interest rate risks that may arise from time to time.
Credit risk management
Potential areas of credit risk comprise mainly trade receivables.  Trade receivables consist of a large widespread tenant
base.  The group monitors the financial position of its tenants on an ongoing basis.  Adjustment is made for impairment of
specific bad debts and at year end management did not consider there to be any material credit risk exposure, not
covered by an allowance for doubtful debts.  The group impairment allowance for doubtful debts amounted to
approximately R1.7 million (2006:  R3.6 million).  At balance sheet date there were no specific concentrations of credit risk.
Interest rate risk management
At 31 March 2007, the group had long-term borrowings of R1 161.9 million.  100% of the variable interest rate long-term
debt has been fixed in terms of interest rate swap agreements entered into.  The group’s interest rate risk management
position is summarised below:

Floating Prime less 2% 26.5 March 2008 2.2 Swaption at 10.1%
Fixed 10.66% 251.2 August 2011 21.6 Fixed
Floating 3 month JIBAR plus 1.4% 88.5 July 2011 7.6 Hedged at 10.36%
Floating 3 month JIBAR plus note margin 462.0 November 2010 39.8 Hedged at 9.95%
Floating 3 month JIBAR plus note margin 308.0 November 2012 26.5 Hedged at 10.06%
Floating 3 month JIBAR plus 1.4% 25.7 November 2010 2.3 Swaption at 10.1%

Total 1 161.9 100.0

Group Group Company Company
2007 2006 2007 2006
R000 R000 R000 R000
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16 Financial instruments (continued)
The short-term floating access facility of R100 million is not fully hedged and therefore it is estimated that for the year
ending 31 March 2008, a 1% change in interest rates would affect the company’s profit before debenture interest by
approximately R0.7 million.
Details of the group’s interest rate swap contracts are set out in note 13 of the annual financial statements.
Liquidity risk management
Cash flows are monitored on a monthly basis to ensure that cash resources are adequate to meet funding requirements.
In terms of covenants with certain banks, the nominal value of long-term interest bearing bank debt may not exceed 50%
of the value of non-current assets and 65% of securitised property assets.  The directors have imposed a 45% loan to
value ratio.

Value of property assets 3 876 332 3 668 726
45% thereof 1 744 349 1 650 927
Nominal value of borrowings utilised at year end (1 161 930) (1 509 794)

Potential borrowing capacity 582 419 141 133

Estimation of fair value
The following summarises the major methods and assumptions used in estimating the fair values of financial instruments:

Debenture liabilities
Debenture liabilities are considered to be held to maturity.
Trade and other receivables
These are valued at their nominal value (less cumulative impairment losses) as the time value of money is immaterial
for these current assets.  Impairment losses are estimated at the year end by reviewing amounts outstanding and
assessing the likelihood of recoverability.
Derivative financial instruments
Derivative financial instruments consists of interest rate swaps and are valued by discounting future cash flows using
the market rate indicated on the interest rate curve at the dates when the cash flows will take place.
Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are valued at their nominal value as the time value of money is immaterial for these current
liabilities.

17 Revenue
Property revenue 553 480 567 688 402 806 371 823

Included in property revenue:
Turnover rental 6 371 6 904 4 681 5 414

18 Distribution received from MICC
Dividends - - 13 13
Debenture interest - - 60 014 48 537

- - 60 027 48 550

19 Property expenses
Municipal fixed charges 38 582 41 177 27 658 25 825
Municipal consumption costs 56 254 57 443 42 370 38 539
Operating costs 53 693 55 435 40 745 38 235
Repairs and maintenance 17 720 16 462 14 651 11 596
Asset management fees 12 574 12 958 8 897 9 055
Property management fees 16 928 17 699 11 923 10 879

195 751 201 174 146 244 134 129
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20 Administrative expenses
Administration costs 4 422 4 251 3 414 2 929
Depreciation of furniture, fittings and computer 
equipment 86 126 53 63
Senior management cash settled long-term 
bonus scheme* 1 043 6 523 1 043 6 523
Staff and related costs (excluding directors’ 
remuneration) 901 1 156 901 1 156
Internal audit fee 274 297 274 192

* Senior management has, from 1 July 2004, participated in a long-term incentive bonus scheme which was based
on the movement of the company’s linked unit price.  The above amount includes R853 395 reflected under
directors’ remuneration.
Due to the accounting treatment of this scheme, which requires the liability to be valued using the Black-Scholes
valuation methodology, changes in the company’s linked unit price influences the quantum of this liability and
therefore the distribution to unitholders.  It is extremely difficult to budget for the impact of this liability in the income
statement.  In addition, under this scheme, there was no obligation on the senior executives to acquire and hold
linked units in the company.  Accordingly, the board of Vukile, in line with market trends, decided to replace the
above scheme with a new retention scheme.  As part of the termination of the current scheme, 40% of the
company’s liability was paid to senior management on 30 March 2007 as outlined in the directors’ report under
directors’ remuneration.
The remaining 60% will be replaced by a retention type scheme in June 2007.  This scheme will require
management to utilise the after tax portion of the bonus paid to acquire linked units in Vukile.  If the employee leaves
the company prior to June 2010, he/she will be obliged to repay the above-mentioned bonus.
The accounting treatment is to amortise this bonus payment equally over 36 months commencing 1 July 2007 as it
is an equity-settled scheme.  The quantum of the bonus charge to the income statement will, therefore, be fixed for
a three-year period.
The terms and conditions of the new retention scheme are in the process of being finalised.

21 Auditors’ remuneration
Audit fees 1 263 1 016 770 479

Current year 1 168 908 675 424
Adjustment for prior year 95 108 95 55
Other services 111 42 71 35

1 374 1 058 841 514

22 Investment and other income
Interest 12 122 4 228 2 488 2 262
Management fees received from MICC - - 1 700 2 158
Profit on disposal of investment property - 99 - -
Profit on insurance claim - furniture, fittings 
and computer equipment - 28 - 21
Dividends - - - 2 881

12 122 4 355 4 188 7 322

23 Finance costs
Secured loans 136 688 142 472 91 000 85 271
Amortisation of debt raising fee 2 262 2 452 2 262 2 452
Sundry 72 54 (50) 54

139 022 144 978 93 212 87 777

Group Group Company Company
2007 2006 2007 2006
R000 R000 R000 R000
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24 Taxation
Normal taxation 8 966 3 305 3 371 1 811
Reversal of deferred capital gains taxation (5 754) - - -

3 212 3 305 3 371 1 811
Secondary taxation on companies 203 71 54 69
Deferred normal taxation (69) (1 471) (469) (1 471)
Deferred taxation on straight-line rental 
accrual 6 561 5 619 3 174 5 000
Deferred taxation on fair value 
adjustment of investment properties 127 366 120 135 109 100 82 322

137 273 127 659 115 230 87 731

Reconciliation of tax rate % % % %
Standard tax rate 29.00 29.00 29.00 29.00
Permanent differences 0.90 0.64 0.65 0.66
STC 0.04 0.02 0.01 0.02
Rate adjustment 0.28 0.83 - -
Change in fair value (0.32) (3.45) (0.26) (2.58)

Effective tax rate 29.90 27.04 29.40 27.10

25 Reconciliation of group net profit 
to headline earnings

Attributable profit after taxation 320 639 115.79 317 631 118.25
Adjusted for:

Change in fair value of investment properties (458 168) (165.45) (468 455) (174.39)
Deferred taxation on fair value adjustment of 
investment properties 127 366 46.00 120 135 44.72
Minority interest in revaluation surplus net of 
deferred taxation 535 0.20 25 984 9.67
Deferred taxation on straight-line rental accrual 6 561 2.36 5 619 2.09
Straight-line rental accrual net of deferred 
taxation and net of minority interest 15 577 5.62 13 370 4.98
Debenture interest net of minority interest 212 406 76.70 184 859 68.82
Amortisation of debenture premium (416) (0.15) - -
Capital loss on sale of properties 5 878 2.12 - -

Headline earnings of linked units 230 378 83.19 199 143 74.14
Straight-line rental accrual net of deferred 
taxation and net of minority interest (15 577) (5.62) (13 370) (4.98)

Available for distribution 214 801 77.57 185 773 69.16

26 Cash flow statement
The following convention applies to figures under “adjustments” on the following page:  inflows of cash are represented by
figures in brackets while outflows of cash are represented by figures without brackets.

Group Group Company Company
2007 2006 2007 2006
R000 R000 R000 R000
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26 Cash flow statement (continued)
26.1 Reconciliation of net profit 

before finance costs to cash 
generated from operations
Net operating profit before 
finance costs 379 919 368 415 321 187 291 560
Adjustments

Straight-line rental accrual (22 100) (19 144) (10 943) (17 242)
Pre-acquisition debenture 
interest receivable - - 377 7 844
Pre-acquisition dividend 
receivable - - - 385
Investment income (12 122) (4 228) (4 188) (7 301)
Debenture interest 
payable to minorities - (3 372) - -
Profit on disposal of 
investment property - (99) - -
Profit on insurance claim - 
furniture, fittings and 
computer equipment - (28) - (21)
Depreciation 86 126 53 63

Cash flow from operating profit 
before working capital changes 345 783 341 670 306 486 275 288
Movement in working capital 3 306 6 259 11 791 (6 525)

Increase in trade and 
other receivables (1 861) (2 712) (651) (14 027)
Increase/(decrease) in 
net loans to subsidiaries - - 7 409 (7 511)
Increase in trade and 
other payables 5 167 8 971 5 033 15 013

Cash generated from operations 349 089 347 929 318 277 268 763

26.2 Distribution to linked unitholders
Distribution to linked 
unitholders owing at 
beginning of year 98 075 84 480 98 075 84 480
Debenture interest per 
income statement 213 088 200 632 212 407 184 859
Pre-issue debenture 
interest offset against 
debenture premium 
and share premium 5 730 - 5 730 -
Dividends declared 433 377 433 377
Attributable to minorities (681) (8 003) - -
Distribution to linked unitholders 
owing at end of year (121 176) (98 075) (121 176) (98 075)

Distribution paid during the year 195 469 179 411 195 469 171 641

26.3 Taxation paid
Amount owing at beginning 
of year 2 528 620 1 858 22
Current taxation 24 8 966 3 305 3 371 1 811
Secondary taxation on companies 203 71 54 69

11 697 3 996 5 283 1 902
Net amount owing at end of year (4 253) (2 528) (141) (1 858)

Tax paid during year 7 444 1 468 5 142 44

2007 2006 2007 2006
Group Group Company Company

Note R000 R000 R000 R000
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27 Related party transactions
GROUP
Details of the transactions with directors, including key management, are set out in the directors’ report.  Apart from the
executive directors, no employees are considered to be key management personnel.
The following are related party transactions:

Sanlam Life Sale of
Insurance Ltd Oakhurst

Property - - 34 400 -
Sanlam Properties Asset
(Pty) Ltd management,

lease rentals and
other fees 16 259 1 396 11 856 1 525

Amount due was paid 
in April 2007
Gensec Property Services Property
(Pty) Ltd management

and other fees 22 241 4 261 20 123 2 477
Amount due was paid in 
April 2007
Kuper Legh Property Property
Group management

and other fees 2 919 671 2 192 217
Amount due was paid 
in April 2007
MCH Properties Expansion of 
(Pty) Ltd Phoenix Plaza 

and Dobsonville 
development costs 73 041 - - -

Sanlam Properties (Pty) Ltd is a subsidiary of Sanlam Limited which held 81 421 430 of the issued linked units of Vukile
Property Fund Limited at 31 March 2007.  Sanlam Limited also holds a minority shareholding in Gensec Property Services
(Pty) Ltd.  Sanlam Properties Limited has a majority shareholding in MCH Properties (Pty) Ltd.  Kuper Legh Property Group
is controlled by two individuals who are also significant unitholders in Vukile.

Amounts Amounts
Amount owed to re- Amount owed to re-

Type paid lated parties paid lated parties
of 2007 2007 2006 2006

Related party transaction R000 R000 R000 R000
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28 Segmental analysis
Group income for the year ended 
31 March 2007

Property revenue 86 770 173 952 292 758 - 553 480
Straight-line rental income 
accrual 3 283 6 247 12 570 - 22 100
Property expenses (33 378) (58 136) (104 237) - (195 751)

Net profit from property operations 56 675 122 063 201 091 - 379 829

Group balance sheet at 
31 March 2007

Investment properties 589 364 1 163 939 2 056 993 - 3 810 296
Other non-current assets 22 195 48 226 57 090 - 127 511

Current assets 7 523 8 141 26 317 181 401 223 382
Trade and other receivables 4 535 4 567 12 439 - 21 541
Cash and cash equivalents 694 (955) 5 871 181 401 187 011
Straight-line rental income 
asset 2 294 4 529 8 007 - 14 830

Current liabilities 16 494 23 183 54 206 151 958 245 841
Trade and other payables 16 494 23 183 54 206 26 529 120 412
Linked unitholders - - - 121 176 121 176
Taxation payable - - - 4 253 4 253

Group income for the year ended 
31 March 2006

Property revenue 81 654 175 599 310 435 - 567 688
Straight-line rental income 
accrual 2 754 5 922 10 468 - 19 144
Property expenses (28 936) (62 228) (110 010) - (201 174)

Net profit from property operations 55 472 119 293 210 893 - 385 658

Group balance sheet at 
31 March 2006

Investment properties 535 716 1 167 743 1 350 314 - 3 053 773
Other non-current assets 19 280 42 026 48 596 - 109 902
Non-current assets held 
for sale 100 740 219 595 253 921 - 574 256

Current assets 5 854 16 186 22 867 68 742 113 649
Trade and other receivables 1 957 2 953 2 902 11 868 19 680
Cash and cash equivalents 1 390 7 768 13 645 56 874 79 677
Straight-line rental income 
asset 2 507 5 465 6 320 - 14 292

Current liabilities 4 620 8 769 10 097 349 826 373 312
Trade and other payables 4 620 8 769 10 097 249 223 272 709
Linked unitholders - - - 98 075 98 075
Taxation payable - - - 2 528 2 528

Segment assets and liabilities
Segment assets include all operating assets used by a segment and consist principally of investment properties,
receivables and cash.  Assets not directly attributable to a particular segment are allocated to the corporate segment.
Segment liabilities include all operating liabilities of a segment and consist principally of outstanding accounts.  Segment
assets and liabilities do not include goodwill and deferred taxation.

Industrial Commercial Retail Corporate Total
R000 R000 R000 R000 R000
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29 Future minimum lease income
Receivable within one year 386 962 377 981 280 245 243 282
Receivable between one and five years 696 675 554 636 525 897 382 719
Receivable after five years 66 961 34 583 56 178 31 388

Total future contractual lease revenue 1 150 598 967 200 862 320 657 389
Rental straight-line adjustment already 
accrued (66 036) (48 249) (48 079) (37 669)
Future straight-line lease revenue 1 084 562 918 951 814 241 619 720

30 Operating lease commitments
Payable within one year 713 377 713 346
Payable between one and five 
years 276 252 276 188

989 629 989 534

Maintenance and other property 
related contracts

Payable within one year - 2 047 - 1 995
Payable between one and 
five years - 1 451 - 1 449

- 3 498 - 3 444

Capital commitments
Authorised and contracted 125 500 198 200 125 500 198 200

The group is authorised and contracted to develop the Moratiwa Crossing Shopping Centre at a cost of R61.6 million,
acquire an office complex in Houghton at a cost of R33.9 million and purchase a 50% undivided share in a value type retail
development in Kings Road, Pinetown for R30 million.

Authorised not contracted 53 662 19 800 46 345 11 896

This capital expenditure comprises upgrades of air-conditioning systems, new escalators, extensions to and upgrades of
shopping centres and the expansion of the Allandale mini factory complex.
It is intended that the above capital expenditure will be funded by way of bank facilities and surplus cash. 

31 Guarantees
Guarantees in lieu of municipal service deposits amount to R11.5 million (2006: R7.4 million).

32 Contingent liability
As previously disclosed to linked unitholders, litigation is continuing with former MICC unitholders (“the objectors”) regarding
the compulsory acquisition of their linked units in MICC in terms of Section 440K of the Companies Act.

On 15 February 2007, the High Court ordered that Vukile could proceed forthwith with the acquisition of the MICC linked
units of the objectors, whilst other issues in the litigation were referred to full trial proceedings to be conducted in due
course.  The objectors will be required to prove that Vukile acted unlawfully in compulsorily acquiring their shares and be
required to prove their damages claim of R635 000.  The opinion of Vukile’s counsel is that the company has acted lawfully
in acquiring the objectors’ linked units in MICC in terms of Section 440K of the Companies Act and that the claim for
damages should, therefore, be unsuccessful.

Group Group Company Company
2007 2006 2007 2006
R000 R000 R000 R000
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Unitholders’ classification
1 - 1 000 units 754 46.17 46 270 0.02
1 001 - 10 000 units 547 33.50 2 710 786 0.92
10 001 - 100 000 units 236 14.45 7 067 790 2.39
100 001 - 1 000 000 units 91 5.57 86 013 731 29.10
1 000 001 units and over 5 0.31 199 712 300 67.57

1 633 100.00 295 550 877 100.00

Unitholders’ profile
Banks 8 0.49 121 702 0.04
Close corporations 13 0.80 286 720 0.10
Endowment funds 21 1.29 1 630 235 0.55
Individuals 1 303 79.79 16 392 112 5.55
Insurance companies 7 0.43 1 158 711 0.39
Investment companies 15 0.92 120 348 741 40.72
Medical aid schemes 5 0.31 422 535 0.14
Mutual funds 66 4.04 54 454 090 18.42
Nominees and trusts 124 7.59 12 428 727 4.21
Other corporations 8 0.49 97 372 0.03
Pension funds 42 2.57 11 482 946 3.89
Private companies 19 1.16 76 723 860 25.96
Public companies 2 0.12 3 126 0.00

1 633 100.00 295 550 877 100.00

Non-public/public unitholders
Non-public unitholders 7 0.18 157 061 970 53.14

Directors and associates of the company holdings 5 0.06 1 752 820 0.59
Strategic holdings (more than 10%) 2 0.12 155 309 150 52.55

Public unitholders 1 626 99.82 138 488 907 46.86
1 633 100.00 295 550 877 100.00

Breakdown of beneficial unitholders
Sanlam
Sanlam - Ryckloff Beleggings 74 698 567 25.27
Simlend Main Account 6 126 743 2.07
African Life Insurance 596 120 0.20
Total 81 421 430 27.54

Breakdown of non-public holdings
Directors
AD Botha 1 602 720 0.54
HSC Bester 25 000 0.01
M Serebro 20 000 0.01
MJ Potts 2 500 0.00
G Van Zyl 102 600 0.03
Total 1 752 820 0.59

Strategic holdings (more than 10%)
Sanlam 81 421 430 27.55
Clidet 598 (Pty) Limited (BEE Group) 73 887 720 25.00
Total 155 309 150 52.55

Number Number
of unit- of

holdings % units %

Unitholders’ analysis tables
Register date: 30 March 2007  Issued Share Capital:  295 550 877 units
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Commercial
Arivia.kom Building Gauteng (Midrand) 15 634 78 238 Apr 04 105 212 73
DLV Building Gauteng (Pta) 2 840 13 469 Apr 04 21 056 64
VWL Building Gauteng (Pta) 16 931 67 346 Apr 04 68 682 48 3.0
Barlow Place Gauteng (Sandton) 2 543 8 660 Apr 04 13 715 54
Glencairn Building Gauteng (Jhb) 13 378 41 875 Apr 04 42 972 44 1.9
Mutual and Federal Gauteng (Pta) 12 093 54 712 Apr 04 64 273 45
Pinepark Western Cape (Cpt) 2 804 13 347 Apr 04 18 402 54
Midtown Building Gauteng (Pta) 8 086 34 947 Apr 04 34 526 40
Hallmark Building Gauteng (Pta) 25 493 80 693 Apr 04 66 997 36 0.2
Eva Park Gauteng (Jhb) 11 076 30 657 Apr 04 55 754 49 9.3
Louis Leipoldt Hospital Western Cape (Parow) 20 479 106 937 Apr 04 152 044 54
Nelspruit Prorom Mpumalanga (Nelspruit) 6 188 16 108 Apr 04 26 737 52 1.4
Bedfordview GIS Gauteng (Jhb) 6 760 26 396 Apr 04 30 141 42 0.3
Centurion Sanlameerzicht Gauteng (Centurion) 5 180 17 979 Apr 04 31 200 54
227 Andries Street Gauteng (Pta) 9 604 12 990 Apr 04 28 408 41
East London Sanlam Park Eastern Cape (EL) 9 069 59 236 Apr 04 65 110 60 5.6
Durban Embassy KZN (Dbn) 32 376 107 041 Apr 04 191 610 52 21.9
Oakhurst Parktown Gauteng (Jhb) 9 085 34 400 Mar 06 41 182 47 1.3
50 6th Road Hyde Park Gauteng (Sandton) 4 181 56 573 Sept 06 58 330 120

213 800 861 604 1 116 355

Industrial
Sony Building Gauteng (Midrand) 11 274 33 530 Apr 04 64 043 39
Supra Hino Gauteng (Jhb) 2 840 14 264 Apr 04 22 494 56
Hellman International Gauteng (Jhb) 2 704 5 807 Apr 04 10 265 32
Valley View Industrial Park KZN (Dbn) 28 798 53 795 Apr 04 50 479 21
Village Main Industrial Park Gauteng (Jhb) 8 057 5 400 Apr 04 9 617 19
John Griffin Gauteng (Jhb) 9 774 5 298 Apr 04 14 183 9
AAD Western Cape (Cpt) 3 024 7 845 Apr 04 10 524 28
Richmond Park KZN (Dbn) 7 940 10 800 Apr 04 15 524 26
Atlas Road Complex Gauteng (Jhb) 17 716 13 551 Apr 04 19 628 18 3.4
Centurion N1 Gauteng (Centurion) 11 414 12 990 Apr 04 25 271 23
Midrand Allandale 
undeveloped land Gauteng (Midrand) - 5 655 Apr 04 18 000 -
Parow Industrial Park Western Cape (Cpt) 19 835 28 059 Apr 04 39 578 20
Midrand Allandale Park Gauteng (Midrand) 15 636 23 175 Apr 04 46 115 28 1.6
Germiston R24 Gauteng (Germiston) 34 977 53 520 Apr 04 93 969 22 1.9
Randburg Trevallyn Gauteng (Randburg) 32 006 48 324 Apr 04 74 084 24 0.9

205 995 322 013 513 774

Retail
Botbyl Subaru Building Gauteng (Pta) 4 656 23 637 Apr 04 30 825 68 2.1
Truworths Centre Mpumalanga (Nelspruit) 1 487 7 336 Apr 04 14 057 70
Hillcrest Centre Gauteng (Jhb) 5 963 24 333 Apr 04 19 852 55
Grosvenor Shopping Centre Gauteng (Jhb) 4 731 31 381 Apr 04 31 641 99
Truworths Building Gauteng (Jhb) 6 916 40 550 Apr 04 53 191 57
Pine Crest Centre KZN (Dbn) 40 249 99 338 Apr 04 165 240 76 2.6
Lichtenburg Sanlam 
Centre Limpopo (Lichtenburg) 8 407 18 706 Apr 04 29 231 37 4.2
Barlows Audi ** Western Cape (Cpt) 3 100 24 025 Apr 04 34 331 81
Midrand Sanitary City Gauteng (Midrand) 6 342 15 277 Apr 04 27 435 26
Bloemfontein Plaza 
and Parkade Free State (Bloemfontein) 38 438 45 726 Apr 04 114 720 40 3.5
Pongola Shopping 
Centre KZN (Pongola) 9 616 27 124 Apr 04 39 398 43 6.1
Daveyton Shopping Centre Gauteng (Jhb) 16 983 49 883 Apr 04 85 121 57 1.0
Dobsonville Shopping Centre Gauteng (Jhb) 23 124 56 118 Apr 04 135 589 58 2.7
Durban Phoenix Plaza KZN (Dbn) 24 134 189 140 Apr 04 355 073 117 1.6
Randburg Square Gauteng (Randburg) 51 370 70 668 Apr 04 185 856 40 8.0

245 516 723 242 1 321 560
Company total 665 311 1 906 859 2 951 689

** Leasehold property

Directors’ Weighted
Gross Purchase Effective valuation average Vac-

Properties owned Region lettable price date of at 31 March rental ancy
by the company (Town) area (m2) (R000) acquisition 2007 (R000) (R/m2 p.m.) (%)
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Commercial
Randburg Triangle Gauteng (Randburg) 3 042 12 725 Oct 03 11 822 37
Kleinfontein Offices Gauteng (Jhb) 5 183 6 413 Oct 03 16 847 38 4.6
De Tijger Office Park Western Cape (Cpt) 4 159 25 856 Oct 03 34 023 69

12 384 44 994 62 692

Industrial
Randburg Tungsten Gauteng (Randburg) 10 365 13 336 Oct 03 25 295 26
Robertville Mini Factories Gauteng (Jhb) 28 105 15 983 Oct 03 35 905 16
Ndabeni Business Park Western Cape (Cpt) 9 429 16 898 Oct 03 22 259 27 6.0

47 899 46 217 83 459

Retail
Roodepoort Hillfox 
Power Centre Gauteng (Roodepoort) 36 004 62 098 Oct 03 107 010 36 10.5
Mala Plaza Limpopo (Malamulele) 4 913 11 758 Oct 03 19 554 55
Masingita Spar 
Centre Limpopo (Giyani) 5 430 13 947 Oct 03 22 082 48 2.7
Piet Retief Shopping 
Centre Mpumalanga (Piet Retief) 7 463 20 818 Oct 03 34 738 48 1.5
Nelspruit Game 
Centre Mpumalanga (Nelspruit) 5 600 24 432 Oct 03 29 035 78
Qualbert Centre - 
Durban KZN (Dbn) 4 777 24 432 Oct 03 33 289 86 4.2
Kokstad Game Centre KZN (Kokstad) 12 567 37 666 Oct 03 72 734 56 5.7
The Victoria Centre - 
Pietermaritzberg KZN (Pietermaritzburg) 10 682 55 685 Oct 03 89 778 72
Meadowdale Mall Gauteng (Jhb) 35 350 66 170 Oct 03 103 864 29 0.6

122 786 317 006 512 084

Namibian properties
Oshakati Shopping 
Centre Namibia (Oshakati) 21 591 76 929 Oct 03 119 381 53 0.6
Oshakati Bears Furnishers Namibia (Oshakati) 2 523 4 502 Oct 03 3 379 26
Oshikango Ellerines 
Centre Namibia (Oshikango) 5 868 19 542 Oct 03 28 457 63
Ondangwa Shoprite 
Checkers Namibia (Ondangwa) 5 709 17 959 Oct 03 30 379 53 2.7
Katatura Checkers 
Centre Namibia (Katatura) 10 525 41 157 Oct 03 58 876 53 4.4
Rundu Ellerines Namibia (Rundu) 1 283 4 330 Oct 03 4 424 56
Katima Mulilo 
Pep Stores Namibia (Katima Mulilo) 2 472 6 149 Oct 03 7 983 44

49 971 170 568 252 879
MICC total 233 040 578 785 911 114
Group total 898 351 2 485 644 3 862 803

Directors’ Weighted
Gross Purchase Effective valuation average Vac-

Properties owned Region lettable price date of at 31 Mar rental ancy
by subsidiary (MICC) (Town) area (m2) (R000) acquisition 2007 (R000) (R/m2 p.m.) (%)
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Notice is hereby given that the third annual general meeting of
the unitholders of Vukile Property Fund Limited 
(“Vukile” or “the company”) will be held at Second Floor,
Meersig Building, Constantia Boulevard, Constantia Kloof,
1709, Gauteng, on Thursday 6 September 2007 at 
11:00 for the following business:

To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following resolutions
with or without modification as ordinary resolutions:

1 Ordinary resolution no. 1
Annual financial statements
To consider and adopt the audited annual financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2007, including
the directors’ report and the report of the auditors.

2 Ordinary resolution no. 2
Non-executive directors’ remuneration
“Resolved that the remuneration for the non-executive
directors for the period from 1 April 2007 to 
31 March 2008 be increased by approximately 8% and
be approved as follows:
2.1 Annual retainer: chairman of the board 

R162 000 per annum; chairman of the audit and
risk committee R162 000 per annum; chairman of
the investment committee R108 000 per annum;
members of the investment committee R97 200
per annum; and, other directors R75 600 per
annum.

2.2 Attendance fees: an attendance fee of 
R10 800 per board or audit and risk committee or
human resources and nomination committee
meeting.”

Note: members of the investment committee are not
paid an attendance fee per meeting as most approvals
are given on a round robin basis.  For this reason, their
annual retainers are higher than that of other directors.

3 Ordinary resolution no. 3
Re-election of directors
“Resolved that the following retiring directors, who retire
in terms of article 72 of the company’s articles 
of association, but being eligible, offer themselves for 
re-election, be and are hereby re-elected:
3.1 Mr S Bernic;
3.2 Mr HSC Bester; and
3.3 Mr PS Moyanga.”
Brief CV’s of all the directors appear on pages 
12 and 13 of the annual report.

4 Ordinary resolution no. 4
Re-appointment of auditors
To consider the re-appointment of Grant Thornton 
as auditors of the company until the conclusion of 
the next annual general meeting, in terms of S270(1) 
of the Companies Act, No. 61 of 1973.

5 Ordinary resolution no. 5
Auditors’ remuneration
To authorise the directors to fix and pay the auditors’
remuneration for the year ended 31 March 2007.

6 Ordinary resolution no. 6
Issue of shares
“Resolved that the directors be and are hereby
authorised to allot and issue a portion of the unissued
ordinary shares of R0.01 each in the capital of the
company up to a maximum of 5% of the issued shares
of the company, at such time or times to such persons,
company or companies and upon such terms and
conditions as they may determine, subject to the
requirements of the Companies Act, No. 61 
of 1973, and the JSE Limited, provided that each
ordinary share is linked to a debenture of R4.90 each,
such authority to expire at the next annual general
meeting of the company.” 

7 Ordinary resolution no. 7
General authority to issue shares for cash
“Resolved that, subject to not less than 75% of the votes
of those unitholders of the company present in person or
by proxy and entitled to vote at the annual general
meeting at which this ordinary resolution number 7 is
considered, being cast in favour of this ordinary
resolution, the directors of the company be authorised
by general authority to issue a maximum of 5% of the
issued shares for cash as they in their discretion deem
fit, subject to the Companies Act, No. 61 of 1973, the
articles of association of the company, the JSE Listings
Requirements and to the following limitations:

each ordinary share of R0.01 each is linked to a
debenture of R4.90 each;
this authority shall be valid until the company’s
next annual general meeting provided that it shall
not extend beyond 15 months from the date of
this annual general meeting;
a press announcement giving full details, including
the number of linked units issued, the average
discount to the weighted average traded price of
the linked units over the 30 days prior to the date
that the price of the issue was determined or
agreed by the directors and the effect of the issue
on net asset value, net tangible asset value,
earnings per share and headline earnings per
share, will be published after any issue
representing, on a cumulative basis within any one
financial year, 5% or more of the number of linked
units in issue prior to such issue;
issues in terms of this authority will not in the
aggregate exceed 5% of the company's issued
capital in any one financial year.  For purposes of
determining the securities comprising the 5%
number in any one year, account will be taken of
the dilution effect, in the year of issue of
options/convertible securities, by including the
number of any securities which may be issued in
future arising out of the issue of such
options/convertible securities;
in determining the price at which an issue of
linked units will be made in terms of this authority,
the maximum discount permitted will be 10% of
the weighted average traded price of the linked
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units on the JSE, as determined over the 30
business days prior to the date that the price of
the issue is determined or agreed by the directors
of the company;
shares issued must be of a class already in issue;
and
the issue must be made to public shareholders as
defined in paragraphs 4.25 to 4.27 of the Listings
Requirements of the JSE.”

Special resolution no. 1
General authority to repurchase shares
To consider and, if deemed fit, to pass with or without
modification, the following special resolution no. 1:
“Resolved that, subject to the provisions of the
Companies Act, No. 61 of 1973, the company’s articles
of association and the Listings Requirements of the JSE
Limited (“JSE”), the directors of the company be
authorised to approve the repurchase by the company
of its own shares provided that:

each ordinary share of R0.01 each is linked to a
debenture of R4.90 each;
the general authority shall only be valid until the
company’s next annual general meeting, provided
that it does not extend beyond 15 months from
the date of this resolution;
the general authority to repurchase be limited 
to a maximum of 20% in aggregate of the
company’s issued capital in any one financial year;
the repurchase is effected through the order book
operated by the JSE trading system and done
without any prior understanding or arrangement
between the company and the counter party;
the repurchase by the company shall not be
made at a price greater than 10% above the
weighted average of the market value for the
securities for the five business days immediately
preceding the date on which the transaction is
effected;
at any point in time, the company may only
appoint one agent to effect any repurchase(s) on
the company’s behalf;
the company may only undertake a repurchase of
securities if, after such repurchase, it still complies
with paragraphs 3.37 to 3.41 of the JSE Listings
Requirements concerning shareholder spread
requirements;
the repurchase shall not take place during a
prohibited period as defined in paragraph 
3.67 of the JSE Listings Requirements; and
a paid press announcement containing full details
of such acquisition will be published as soon as
the company has acquired securities constituting,
on a cumulative basis, 3% of the number of
securities in issue prior to the acquisition.”

The reason for and effect of special resolution no. 1 is to
enable the directors to approve the repurchase by the
company of its shares as part of the repurchase of its
linked units, subject to the limitations included in the
special resolution.

Explanatory notes to special resolution no. 1
Information required in terms of the JSE Listings
Requirements with regard to the general authority for the
company or any of its subsidiaries to repurchase the
company's securities appears in the annual financial
statements, to which this notice of annual general
meeting is annexed, as indicated below:

directors and management: pages 12 and 13 of
the annual report;
major unitholders:  page 47 of the annual report;
directors’ interests in securities: page 22 of the
annual report; and
capital of the company:  page 19 of the annual
report.

The directors of the company, whose names and
abbreviated curriculum vitae appear on pages 12 and 13
of the annual report, are not aware of any legal or
arbitration proceedings, including proceedings that are
pending or threatened, that may have or had in the
recent past, a material effect on the company’s position.
The directors of the company, whose names are 
given on the inside back cover of the annual report,
collectively and individually accept full responsibility for
the accuracy of the information given in this notice of
annual general meeting and certify that to the best of
their knowledge and belief there are no facts that have
been omitted which would make any statement false or
misleading, and that all reasonable enquiries to ascertain
such facts have been made and that the annual report
and notice of annual general meeting contains all
information required by law and the JSE Listings
Requirements. 
Other than the facts and developments reported on 
in the annual report, there have been no material
changes in the financial or trading position of the
company, or its subsidiaries, since 31 March 2007 
to the date of notice of annual general meeting.
Pursuant to and in terms of the JSE Listings
Requirements, the directors of the company hereby
state:

that the intention of the company and/or any of its
subsidiaries is to utilise the general authority to
repurchase securities, if at some future date the
cash resources of the company are in excess of
its requirements.  In this regard the directors will
take account of, inter alia, appropriate
capitalisation structures for the company, the long-
term cash needs of the company, and will ensure
that any such repurchases are in the interests of
unitholders;
that the method by which the company and/or
any of its subsidiaries intends to repurchase its
securities and the date on which such
repurchases will take place, has not yet been
determined;
that after considering the effect of a maximum
permitted general repurchase of securities, the
company and its subsidiaries are, as at the date
of this notice convening the annual general
meeting of the company, able to fully comply with
the JSE Listings Requirements. Nevertheless, at
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the time that the contemplated general
repurchase is to take place, the directors of the
company will ensure that:
the company and the group will be able in the
ordinary course of business to pay its debts for
a period of 12 months after the date of the
notice of the annual general meeting;
the assets of the company and the group will
be in excess of the liabilities of the company
and the group for a period of 12 months after
the date of the notice of the annual general
meeting.  For this purpose, the assets and
liabilities will be recognised and measured in
accordance with the accounting policies used
in these annual group financial statements;
the share capital and reserves of the company
and the group will be adequate for ordinary
business purposes for a period of 12 months
after the date of the notice of annual general
meeting;
the working capital of the company and the
group will be adequate for ordinary business
purposes for a period of 12 months after the
date of the notice of annual general meeting; 
the company will provide its sponsor and the
JSE with all documentation as required in
Schedule 25 of the JSE Listings Requirements,
and will not commence any repurchase
programme until the sponsor has signed off on
the adequacy of its working capital, advised the
JSE accordingly and the JSE has approved this
documentation.

8 To transact such other business as may be transacted
at an annual general meeting.
General notes:

A member entitled to attend and vote at the
annual general meeting may appoint a proxy to
attend, speak and vote in his or her stead.  A
proxy need not be a member of the company.
All forms of proxy or other instruments 
of authority must be deposited with the 
transfer secretaries, Computershare Investor
Services 2004 (Pty) Ltd, Ground Floor, 
70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg, 2001, 
(PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107) 
so as to be received no later than 11:00 
on Tuesday, 4 September 2007.
Unitholders who are companies or other body
corporates may, in terms of section 188(1) of
the Companies Act, No. 61 of 1973, by
resolution of its directors or other governing
body, authorise any person to act as its
representative at the annual general meeting.
Unitholders who have not dematerialised their
linked units and own-name dematerialised
unitholders who are unable to attend the annual
general meeting and wish to be represented
thereat, must complete the attached form of
proxy in accordance with the instructions
therein and return it to the transfer secretaries,

Computershare Investor Services 2004 (Pty)
Ltd, 70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg, 2001,
(PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107) so as 
to be received no later than 11:00 on 
Tuesday 4 September 2007.
Unitholders who have dematerialised their linked
units with a CSDP or broker, other than with
own-name registration, should advise their
CSDP or broker with their voting instruction in
terms of the agreement entered into between
them and their CSDP or broker.  Unitholders
who have dematerialised their linked units and
wish to attend the annual general meeting must
contact their CSDP or broker who will furnish
them with the necessary authority to attend the
annual general meeting.
Unitholders who have dematerialised their linked
units, other than with own-name registration,
must not return the form of proxy to the transfer
secretaries.  Their instructions must be sent to
their CSDP or broker for action.
On a show of hands, every member present in
person or every proxy representing unitholders,
shall have only one vote, irrespective of the
number of linked units he or she holds.
On a poll, every unitholder present in person or
represented by proxy shall have one vote for
every linked unit held by such unitholder.
A resolution put to the vote shall be decided on
a show of hands unless, before or on the
declaration of the results on the show of hands,
a poll shall be demanded by any person
entitled to vote at the annual general meeting
and unless a poll is so demanded, a
declaration by the chairman that a resolution
has, on a show of hands been carried, or
carried unanimously, or by a regular majority, or
lost, and an entry to that effect in the minute
book of the company, shall be conclusive
evidence of the fact, without proof of the
number or proportion of the votes recorded in
favour of, or against, such resolution.  If a poll is
so demanded, the resolution put to the vote
shall be decided on a poll.

By order of the board
Vukile Property Fund Limited

Emma Yates
Company secretary

Roodepoort
28 May 2007
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VUKILE PROPERTY FUND LIMITED (“Vukile” or “the company”)
Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa  Registration Number 2002/027194/06

JSE code: VKE  ISIN: ZAE000056370

FOR USE BY UNITHOLDERS WHO HAVE NOT DEMATERIALISED THEIR LINKED UNITS AND OWN-NAME DEMATERIALISED
UNITHOLDERS AT THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF UNITHOLDERS TO BE HELD AT SECOND FLOOR, MEERSIG
BUILDING, CONSTANTIA BOULEVARD, CONSTANTIA KLOOF 1709 ON THURSDAY 6 SEPTEMBER 2007 AT 11:00.

Unitholders who have dematerialised their linked units, other than with own-name registration, must inform their CSDP or broker,
of their intention to attend the annual general meeting in order to obtain necessary authorisations or alternatively, should they not
wish to attend, they must advise their CSDP or broker as to what action they wish to take.  This must be done in terms of the
agreement entered into between them and their CSDP or broker.  Unitholders who have dematerialised their linked units, other
than with own-name registration, must not return the form of proxy to the transfer secretaries.  Their instructions must be sent to
their CSDP or broker for action.

I/We (Please print full names)
of (Please print full address)
being the registered holder of linked units in Vukile, hereby appoint
1 of or failing him/her
2 of or failing him/her

the chairman of the annual general meeting of unitholders as my/our proxy to attend, speak and vote or abstain from voting on
my/our behalf at the annual general meeting of the unitholders to be held at Second Floor, Meersig Building, Constantia
Boulevard, Constantia Kloof, 1709, Gauteng on Thursday, 6 September 2007 at 11:00 and at any adjournment or
postponement thereof, on the resolutions to be proposed at the annual general meeting as follows:

Please indicate with an “X” the instructions to your proxy in the spaces provided below.  In the absence of such indication, the
proxy will be entitled to vote or abstain from voting as he/she sees fit (see notes overleaf).

For Against Abstain
Ordinary resolution no. 1: To receive and consider the annual 

financial statements for the year ended 
31 March 2007

Ordinary resolution no. 2: To approve the non-executive directors’ 
remuneration for the period from 
1 April 2007 to 31 March 2008

Ordinary resolution no. 3: To re-elect the following directors retiring 
by rotation:
3.1 Mr S Bernic
3.2 Mr HSC Bester
3.3 Mr PS Moyanga

Ordinary resolution no. 4: To re-appoint Grant Thornton as auditors
Ordinary resolution no. 5: To authorise the directors to fix and pay 

the auditors’ remuneration
Ordinary resolution no. 6: To place the unissued shares under the 

control of the directors
Ordinary resolution no. 7: To authorise the directors to issue 

shares for cash
Special resolution no. 1: To authorise the directors to repurchase 

shares

and generally to act as my/our proxy at the said annual general meeting of the unitholders.

Signed at this day of 2007

Signature Assisted by (where applicable)

Telephone no. Cell no. Fax no.

Vukile Property Fund Limited    Annual Report 2007
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VUKILE PROPERTY FUND LIMITED (“Vukile”)

Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa  Registration Number 2002/027194/06

JSE code: VKE  ISIN: ZAE000056370

1 This form of proxy shall serve as proxy for both shares and debentures in Vukile.
2 Each member is entitled to appoint one or more proxies (none of whom need be a member of the company) to attend,

speak and vote in place of that member at the annual general meeting of unitholders
3 Every person present and entitled to vote at the annual general meeting as a unitholder or as a proxy or as a representative

of a body corporate shall, on a show of hands, have one vote only, irrespective of the number of linked units such person
holds or represents, but in the event of a poll, a unitholder holding linked units will be entitled to one vote per linked unit
held.

4 Please insert the relevant number of linked units and indicate with an ”X” in the appropriate space on the face hereof, how
you wish your votes to be cast.  If you return this form of proxy duly signed but without any specific directions, the proxy
may vote or abstain from voting as he/she thinks fit.

5 A deletion of any printed matter and the completion of any blank spaces need not be signed or initialled.  Any alteration or
correction must be initialled by the authorised signatory/ies.

6 The chairman of the annual general meeting shall be entitled to decline to accept the authority of a person signing this form
of proxy:
(a) under a power of attorney; or
(b) on behalf of a company,
unless that person’s power of attorney or authority is deposited with the transfer secretaries by no later than 11:00 on
Tuesday 4 September 2007.

7 You may insert the name of any person(s) whom you wish to appoint as your proxy in the blank space(s) provided for that
purpose.

8 The completion and lodging of this form of proxy will not preclude the member who grants this proxy from attending the
annual general meeting and speaking and voting in person thereat to the exclusion of any proxy appointed in terms hereof
should such member wish to do so.

9 Documentary evidence establishing the authority of a person signing this form of proxy in a representative capacity must be
attached to this form of proxy unless previously recorded by the transfer secretaries of Vukile or waived by the chairman of
the annual general meeting.  The chairman of the annual general meeting may reject any form of proxy not completed and/or
received in accordance with these notes or with the Articles of Association and Debenture Trust Deed of Vukile.

10 Completed forms of proxy should be returned to the transfer secretaries, Computershare Investor Services 2004
(Proprietary) Ltd, Ground Floor, 70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg, 2001 (PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107) to be
received no later than 11:00 on Tuesday 4 September 2007.

Notes to the form of proxy

Vukile Property Fund Limited    Annual Report 2007
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